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AbOUT ATs
ATS Automation provides innovative, custom designed, built and installed manufacturing solutions to many of the
world’s most successful companies. Founded in 1978, ATS uses its industry-leading knowledge and global capabilities
to serve the sophisticated automation systems’ needs of multinational customers in healthcare, computer/electronics,
automotive, energy and consumer products. It also leverages its many years of experience and skills to fulfill the
specialized repetitive equipment manufacturing requirements of customers. Through Photowatt Technologies, ATS
participates in the growing solar energy industry as an integrated manufacturer of ingots, wafers, cells and modules.
Photowatt-branded products and systems serve businesses, institutions, and homeowners in established and emerging
markets. ATS employs approximately 3,500 people at 23 manufacturing facilities in Canada, the United States, Europe,
southeast Asia and China. The Company’s shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol ATA. Visit
the Company’s website at www.atsautomation.com.

FiNANciAL HigHLigHTs
(Tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Automation Systems Group
Photowatt Technologies
Intergroup
Total Revenue
Earnings (loss) from operations (1)
Automation Systems Group
Photowatt Technologies
Intergroup (3)
Total earnings (loss) from operations

2007(2)

2008

Years Ended March 31

$ 464,978
198,617
(326)
$ 663,269

$

$

$

$

903
3,159
4,851
8,913

Net loss

$

Earnings (loss) per share
Net earnings (loss) per share - from continuing operations
Net earnings (loss) per share - from discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss) per share

$
$
$

Other Items
Cash and short-term investments
Total assets
Shareholders’ equity
Debt to equity ratio
Automation Systems Group Order Backlog (1)
Automation Systems Group Order Bookings (1)

$ 56,785
$ 678,015
$ 449,190
0.1:1
$ 232,000
$ 531,000

$

465,964
150,593
(2,019)
614,538

2006(2)

$

$

$

6,357
(30,477)
(15,213)
(39,333)

$

7,336
(91,245)
(13,814)
(97,723)

(23,423)

$

(85,015)

$

(69,293)

0.17
(0.50)
(0.33)

$
$
$

(1.28)
(0.14)
(1.42)

$
$
$

(1.08)
(0.09)
(1.17)

$
$
$

25,568
601,065
361,379
0.2:1
185,000
442,000

$
$
$

27,921
649,824
430,921
0.1:1
219,000
534,000

$
$

(1) A non-gAAP measure (see Management's Discussion and Analysis).
(2) certain amounts for fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 have been restated to reflect changes in accounting policies, discontinued operations and reclassifications.
(3) includes gain on sale of investment in canadian solar inc. of $31.8 million.

$

491,856
145,339
(9,735)
627,460

$
$

FELLOw sHAREHOLDERs
On September 13, 2007, the shareholders of ATS voted
for change and elected a new Board of Directors as
proposed by Goodwood Inc. and Mason Capital
Management LLC, two substantial owners. This change
in leadership followed an extended period of poor
performance across all business lines. Between 2000
and 2007, significant shareholder value was lost as
operating margins eroded, Spheral Solar technology
(“SSP”) was unsuccessfully pursued and a solar IPO was
commenced and then shelved.
I was appointed as CEO in November 2007 with a clear
mandate from the new Board to fix the problems and
create shareholder value. After undertaking a
comprehensive review of ATS I presented initial
findings to our Board and they endorsed an action
plan for the immediate future. The plan identified
business strengths that could be exploited and
Anthony caputo, chief Executive Officer
weaknesses that needed to be addressed. Strengths
included a dedicated workforce, significant technical
depth and breadth across multiple industries, longterm customer relationships with “Fortune 500” companies, the ability to manufacture metallurgical silicon (“UMGSi”)
solar cells, and a number of redundant assets that could be monetized. Weaknesses included leadership, performance
management, fragmented operational control, weak program management, unfocused divisions that lacked scope or
“character” (core competencies and markets served) and carried excess costs, a non-strategic approach to market, and
lack of product differentiation.
The immediate action plan to create value consists of the following elements:
(i) Improve management (leadership, business processes and performance management);
(ii) Fix Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) (approach to market, core operations, and division characteristics);
(iii) Position Photowatt France to become a standalone company (fix operations, secure feedstock, ability to scale);
(iv) Strengthen the balance sheet (credit agreement, cash management, monetize non core assets);
(v) Sell Precision Components Group (“PCG”).
To date, we have made good progress on all these fronts.
To gain control and drive predictable results, I have appointed eight new senior executives (six from outside ATS),
including a Chief Financial Officer. These leaders bring a track record of performance improvement, and their
compensation is now directly aligned with shareholder value creation. Leadership will continue to be strengthened
during fiscal 2009. In addition, a number of business processes have been instituted and / or modified to significantly
increase operational control and drive performance improvement. It will take several quarters to gain the necessary
degree of control and discipline required to drive predictable and acceptable performance.
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Message to shareholders

To return ASG to acceptable levels of operating
profitability, we have restructured the ASG global
workforce. We are implementing global account
management and will differentiate offerings on the basis
of technology, global footprint and the outcomes
achieved by our customers. Operationally, we launched
programs to patent our own technologies, to increase
internal sub-contracting, reduce cost, and to standardize
designs. In fiscal 2009, we will complete a more detailed
strategic review of our locations. Divisions will be shaped
for specific scope and the unique “character” (core
competencies and markets served) required to deliver
total solutions to customers. The intended outcome of
these initiatives is significant improvements in approach
to market, execution of customer programs, and
profitability of all ASG divisions.
Photowatt France returned to profitability in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008. During the fourth quarter we
approved an investment of approximately €20 million
to balance Photowatt France’s manufacturing capacity,
improve cost effectiveness and throughput, and
increase operating profit. We advanced the PV Alliance
with a view to improving cell efficiency and exploring
expansion in France. We are evaluating potential
upstream (supplier) relationships with the goal of
strengthening silicon supply and improving Photowatt
France’s market position. It remains our objective that
Photowatt France should become a standalone
company once it has achieved acceptable levels of
profitability, greater access to silicon supply, and the
ability to scale.

Asg will expand its use of standard designs as well as standard products
such as ATs supertrak® and smartvision shown above to increase efficiency
and value for shareholders and customers.

Our balance sheet is strong - approximately $65 million
of non-core assets have been monetized over the past
six months, including the sale of our investment in
Canadian Solar Inc., the sale of silicon that was not
usable by Photowatt France, and, after year end, the
sale of a building that housed SSP. Our cash reserves
now exceed our debt by a substantial amount.
Subsequent to year end we also signed a new
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Message to shareholders

$85 million credit agreement. We intend to monetize
other redundant and non-core assets over the next
several quarters. Realizing value from these assets will
offset a portion of future costs to implement our value
creation plan, and increase our operational and
financial flexibility.
We also continued to advance negotiations to sell
the Precision Components Group. This business is
not profitable, and not strategically important to the
Company. The divestiture of PCG will eliminate a
source of operating losses and return focus to our
other operations.
I believe that the actions taken in fiscal 2008, and early
2009 will stabilize the Company, improve profitability,
and position us for growth. It will take some time to
reach our goals, but I believe that progress will be clear
and measureable. Once ATS has stabilized and is
achieving acceptable operating earnings and net
income, we will focus on the longer term. Future years
of our plan will see us expand product and service
offerings, and grow both organically and by acquisition.
These efforts will emerge as we move forward.
ATS is not a problem company - it is a company with
problems. With the support and encouragement of our
Board we are fixing the problems, increasing clarity and
executing the first phase of our plan. ATS is a world
leader. It is with pride and excitement that I serve as
CEO. On behalf of our committed people who will drive
our success;

ATs will invest in Photowatt France's integrated solar manufacturing
operations in fiscal 2009 to balance capacity, increase throughput and
cell efficiency as part of the plan to position Photowatt France to become
a standalone company.

Yours sincerely

Anthony Caputo, Chief Executive Officer
June 17, 2008
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AUTOMATiON sYsTEMs gROUP
Markets Served
Revenue by Industry

Revenue by Installation Location

(fiscal 2008)

(fiscal 2008)
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2005

cREATiNg VALUE AT AUTOMATiON sYsTEMs gROUP
Business Profile

Market Approach

Capabilities

Markets Served

Through Automation systems group
(Asg), ATs is an automation industry
leader. with more than 10,000
automation projects successfully
completed since 1978, ATs is a
strategic partner to the world’s
foremost manufacturers.

To create value, Asg is changing the
way it approaches the market.
During fiscal 2009, we will move
away from“quotes”to“campaigns.”
This means approaching customers
proactively with automation
solutions before they identify a need
or seek competitive quotes. Asg will
sell based on technology, value and
global capability.

Asg plans, designs, builds,
commissions and services
automated manufacturing and
assembly systems – including
repetitive equipment manufacturing
and test solutions.

Extensive knowledge and
capabilities enable Asg to globally
serve broadly-diversified markets,
including healthcare, consumer
electronics, automotive and energy.
Revenue from energy grew 273%
in fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007.
“Other”markets (see pie chart
Revenue by industry on opposite
page) include consumer products
and appliances.

• Automation solutions
• Repetitive Equipment
Manufacturing
• Automation consulting services
and compliant solutions™

Competitive Advantages

Fiscal 2009 Plan

• Long relationships with multinational customers

Objective: Improve profitability in fiscal 2009.

• 80% of revenue in fiscal 2008 from repeat customers

• Improve core operations
• improve program management and execution
• increase internal sub-contracting to reduce costs
• Transfer skills and increase capabilities in all divisions
• standardize designs
• Reduce third-party material costs
• increase use of standard products
• Protect and leverage internally-developed intellectual property

• industry-leading reputation built on 30 years of innovation
• global scope to serve multinational customer assignments
• broad technical skills and capabilities across multiple industries
• Track record of enabling customer productivity, rapid new product launch,
lower cost and enhanced product quality
• single-source capabilities to capture greater share of customer investment

• Change market approach
• centralize bid review and approval
• Differentiate custom offerings on technology, value and global capability
• Manage large global customer accounts strategically
• Shape divisions
• Review scope and “character”(core competencies and markets served)
of all divisions
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PHOTOwATT TEcHNOLOgiEs
Markets Served
Revenue by Market

Revenue By Product Type

(fiscal 2008)

(fiscal 2008)
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Key Performance Indicators
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Photowatt Technologies

Operating Earnings –
Photowatt Technologies

Operating Earnings –
Photowatt France
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cREATiNg VALUE AT PHOTOwATT TEcHNOLOgiEs
Business Profile

Market Approach

Capabilities

Markets Served

From its manufacturing facility
(Photowatt France), Photowatt
Technologies is an integrated
manufacturer of photovoltaic
products for established and
emerging solar markets. business,
institutions and homeowners have
purchased Photowatt-branded
products since 1979.

To create value, Photowatt France is
developing formal“upstream”
relationships to secure appropriate
silicon supply. This approach may be
combined with a“downstream”
relationship, including potential
future phases of the PV Alliance to
prepare to scale.

Photowatt France’s integrated
manufacturing capabilities, including
ingot, wafer, cell and module
production allow it to participate
across a significant portion of the solar
value chain. integrated know-how
has enabled Photowatt France to
introduce solar cells made from lowergrade UMgsi silicon as a replacement
for polysilicon, the traditional solar
feedstock. Photowatt France’s current
annual capacity is approximately 60
megawatts based on the use of
polysilicon achieving 15% efficiency.

Photowatt France has established
market positions in several western
European countries, including
germany, the world’s largest solar
market. it is developing a presence
in emerging growth markets such as
spain, italy and France.

Competitive Advantages

Fiscal 2009 Plan

• integrated capabilities reduce cost, increase flexibility and improve
product development

Objective: Position Photowatt France to become a standalone Company.
• Fix operations
• increase cell efficiency of UMgsi products to over 14% by year end
• balance plant capacity, improve productivity and cell efficiency through
approximately €20 million investment
• increase total output by supplementing internal cell and module
production with third-party manufacturing
• identify cost reduction opportunities

• 30-year reputation for quality at competitive prices, timely delivery
• UMgsi silicon processing technologies
• wafer-sawing capabilities produce wafer thicknesses of less than
220 microns
• Positioned in established and emerging solar markets
• PV Alliance with industry-leading EDF ENR, a partially owned subsidiary
of Electricité de France, and cEA Valorisation, to increase cell efficiency
and to potentially expand manufacturing in France

• Advance the PV Alliance
• Research to improve polysilicon and UMgsi cell efficiency through the
construction of a 25 Mw cell line at Photowatt France
• consider further research and manufacturing opportunities with PV Alliance
• Secure silicon feedstock
• secure appropriate UMgsi or polysilicon supply in order to support
further capacity expansion
• Prepare to increase scale
• secure agreements with customers with a view to expanding output,
which may include strategic downstream relationships and/or further
development of the PV Alliance
7
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended March 31, 2008

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. (“ATS” or the “Company”) operates in two segments:
k

Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) is an industry-leader in planning, designing, building, commissioning and servicing
automated manufacturing and assembly systems – including repetitive equipment manufacturing and test solutions –
for a broadly-diversified base of customers. ATS’s reputation, knowledge, global presence and standard automation
technology platforms differentiate the Company and provide it with substantial competitive advantages in the
worldwide market for healthcare, computer-electronics, automotive, energy and consumer products automation.

k

Photowatt Technologies serves worldwide customers in the rapidly-growing market for photovoltaic solar energy cells
and modules. Photowatt Technologies includes Photowatt France, a vertically-integrated manufacturer of ingots,
wafers, solar cells and solar modules.

A FOUNDATION FOR CHANGE
At ATS’s most recent annual meeting held on September 13, 2007, a group of shareholders of ATS, led by Goodwood Inc.
(“Goodwood”) and Mason Capital Management, LLC (“Mason”) put forth a resolution to replace the incumbent Board of
Directors of ATS with a new slate of directors, essentially on the basis of: a decline in the ATS share price over a number of years;
the inability to complete an initial public offering of Photowatt Technologies; the deployment of capital in Spheral Solar
technology and subsequent halting of the project; the inability to stage a successful turnaround at ASG; and the funding of
ongoing losses in the Precision Components Group (“PCG”).
The new Board of Directors (the “Board”) was elected with a mandate to provide strong leadership to the Company in order to
improve operating performance and drive shareholder value creation.
In November 2007, the new Board named Anthony Caputo as Chief Executive Officer of ATS. Mr. Caputo is an experienced senior
executive with a 25-year track record of delivering performance, growth and value creation in technology, manufacturing and
service environments. Biographies of the new Board and CEO can be found at www.atsautomation.com.

STRATEGIC REVIEW
To develop a sound action plan for the future, Mr. Caputo and management performed a thorough operational and strategic
review of the Company. This review identified substantial core strengths:
k

A strong, dedicated workforce committed to ATS’s success;

k

Significant depth and breadth of technical skills in automation, across a number of disciplines and across many
geographic regions;

k

A world class list of satisfied customers, including many Fortune 500 companies. In 2008, approximately 80% of ASG
revenue came from repeat customers of ATS;

k

A solar company (Photowatt France) that had developed a successful technology to manufacture profitable solar cells
and modules using refined metallurgical silicon (“UMGSi”);

k

A number of redundant non-core assets that could be liquidated and the capital re-deployed.

This review also identified significant weaknesses that needed to be fixed before acceptable levels of growth and profitability
could be achieved:
k

The depth and breath of leadership across ATS needed to be strengthened;

k

The Company’s business processes and incentive plans did not properly align the leadership of the Company with
superior performance and shareholder returns;

k

Control over sales and operations needed to be strengthened including managing customer bids and programs,
reviewing and approving contracts, and capacity planning;
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k

Many small divisions lacked “character” (core competencies and markets served) and/or adequate scope. During fiscal
2008, eight divisions accounted for approximately 80% of revenue with the other 20% derived from 15 divisions;

k

All divisions were underperforming and many were carrying excess costs;

k

As-shipped ASG margins were often lower than bid;

k

ASG’s approach to market was not coordinated or strategic; global customers were managed regionally, and in some
cases, two divisions quoted separately on the same project;

k

ASG’s product offering lacked differentiation;

k

The long-term strategies of ASG and Photowatt were not well executed;

k

The Company had not been able to successfully renegotiate a credit agreement.

PROGRESS TO DATE
The following immediate actions have been taken since Mr. Caputo was appointed as CEO:

Strengthening leadership:
k

Maria Perrella was appointed Chief Financial Officer of ATS in February 2008. Ms. Perrella has a 19-year track record of
identifying and implementing cost savings, as well as expertise in public company reporting and compliance, cash and
foreign exchange management, tax planning, information technology strategy and implementation, equity and debt
structuring, and acquisitions and divestitures;

k

Chuck Gyles was appointed Vice-President of Organization Effectiveness in January 2008. Mr. Gyles has over 25 years of
experience in corporate turnarounds and transformations, with expertise in organizational development, management
structure and talent assessment;

k

Eric Kiisel was named Senior Vice-President ASG Canada in January 2008. Mr. Kiisel is a seasoned manager with more than
25 years of experience in the automation, nuclear and manufacturing industries and was previously Vice-President
Project Management at ASG’s Cambridge, Ontario operation;

k

Jim Sheldon was appointed Vice-President and General Manager ASG USA in February 2008. Mr. Sheldon has over
20 years of automation experience, including expertise in turnarounds and corporate restructuring;

k

John Sun was appointed Vice-President and General Manager ASG Asia in April 2008. Mr. Sun is a seasoned bilingual
executive with over 25 years of international experience in automation, process control and engineering;

k

Christopher Jouppi was appointed Vice-President and General Manager Repetitive Equipment Manufacturing (“REM”)
in May 2008. Mr. Jouppi is a seasoned executive with over 20 years of experience in automation, marketing and sales,
manufacturing operations and supply chain management;

k

Josef Wildgruber was named Vice-President and General Manager ASG Europe in June 2008. Mr. Wildgruber has over
25 years of experience in automation, sales and operations and has led the Company’s German division for the past
20 years;

k

Vincent Bes was appointed Photowatt France Chief Financial Officer in March 2008. Mr. Bes is an internationally
experienced public company finance executive who was most recently the Chief Financial Officer of Prismaflex
International SA, a publicly-traded company in Europe.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Improving Automation Systems Group:
k

An ASG global severance and restructuring plan affecting approximately 250 positions at a cost of $9.0 million was
implemented in the fourth quarter to reduce excess costs, particularly in factory labour, overhead and selling, general
and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses. Costs of $2.1 million were also accrued in the fourth quarter for the reduction of
another 21 positions in other areas of the Company;

k

Underperforming divisions and programs have been identified and actions to improve operations and profitability are
underway;

k

Management has centralized the review of all significant customer bids to increase profitability and customer account
coordination, and reduce risk;

k

Global account management strategies are being implemented;

k

The sales and marketing group is being realigned and will sell based on the value of outcomes achieved by ASG systems,
products and services;

k

Consolidation of small operations in Michigan and Thailand into other existing facilities was initiated during fiscal 2008,
and is expected to be completed in fiscal 2009.

Improving Photowatt France:
k

Photowatt France was returned to profitability during the fourth quarter as a result of higher cell efficiency and
throughput and lower manufacturing costs;

k

An investment (of up to 320 million) was approved to provide expansion within the existing Photowatt France facility to
balance production, increase output and reduce manufacturing costs;

k

An evaluation of strategic relationships with third parties was initiated with the goal of improving the market position of
Photowatt France and increasing ATS shareholder value;

k

PV Alliance, a joint venture involving Photowatt France, EDEV ENR Reparties (“EDEV”), a partially owned subsidiary of
Electricité de France, and CEA Valorisation (“CEA”) was advanced. The PV Alliance is contemplated to include Lab-Fab
and manufacturing in France. Phase 1 of Lab-Fab, designed to increase cell efficiency by up to 2%, was initiated.

Improving ATS liquidity:
k

The Company’s investment in shares of Canadian Solar Inc. were sold during fiscal 2008 for a gain of $31.8 million;

k

$16.8 million of silicon inventory from Spheral Solar (not usable by Photowatt France or Spheral Solar) was sold during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. This inventory had a nominal carrying value;

k

Subsequent to year end, the Company sold the redundant Spheral Solar building in Cambridge, Ontario for net proceeds
of $16.0 million and an expected gain of approximately $3 million;

k

Effective June 2008, a 17-month credit agreement was signed providing credit facilities of up to $85 million;

k

A redundant building in Ohio was listed for sale.

Sale of PCG:
k

The Company is in negotiations to sell the key operating assets and liabilities of PCG.
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGY
To drive value creation, the Company implemented a three-year plan at the end of fiscal 2008. The focus in year one of the
plan — fiscal 2009 — is to stabilize the Company and improve operating performance. To achieve these objectives, ATS plans to:
Improve management: To establish the structure for improved operational performance, management intends to:
k

Strengthen leadership: Significant progress has been made to strengthen leadership within ATS. Further action is
planned during fiscal 2009;

k

Improve business processes: Customer bids and programs, divisions, capacity planning, and human resource planning are
now centrally managed;

k

Replace performance management system: Incentive compensation will be conditional upon: (i) meeting minimum
performance standards at the divisional and Company-wide levels; (ii) compensating executives on the basis of Companywide performance and scope of responsibility; and (iii) achieving specific objectives based on Order Bookings, operating
earnings and cash generation. Stock-based compensation to certain senior executives has been changed to clearly align
total compensation with shareholder value creation (see “Selected Annual Information”).

Fix ASG: To return this segment to acceptable levels of operating performance, management plans to:
k

Improve core operations: Divisions and customer programs will be managed to consistently meet acceptable levels of
profitability;

k

Change approach to market: Multinational customer accounts will be managed globally and customer offerings will be
enhanced and differentiated on the basis of technology, value, and global capability;

k

Shape divisions: Divisions will adopt a specific “character” (core competencies and markets served) and have sufficient
scope and size.

For further discussion on the ASG improvement plan, see “ASG Business Strategy: Fiscal 2009.”
Position Photowatt France to become a standalone company: As a prerequisite for Photowatt France to become a standalone
company, management plans to:
k

Fix operations in the existing Photowatt France facility: Cell efficiency, yield and profitability need improvement and the
PV Alliance (see “Photowatt Business Strategy — Advance the PV Alliance”) must be advanced;

k

Secure silicon feedstock: Appropriate supply of silicon is required;

k

Prepare for increased scale: The foundation for a downstream relationship needs to be built to increase scale. This may
involve, for example, increased sales, future stages of the PV Alliance and/or an upstream strategic relationship.

For further discussion of the Photowatt France improvement plan, see “Photowatt France Business Strategy.”
Strengthen the balance sheet: To increase the operational and financial flexibility of ATS, management plans to:
k

Complete a new credit agreement: As discussed above, a new credit agreement was signed during the first quarter of
fiscal 2009;

k

Manage cash: Balance cash flows in customer programs and divisions and improve working capital efficiency in
Photowatt;

k

Monetize non-core assets: This effort includes, but is not limited to, the aforementioned sale of the Spheral Solar
building, SSP silicon inventory and PCG.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2008, management estimated that the initiatives to improve operations may cost
approximately $30 million. Costs incurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 in this respect included $11.1 million for
restructuring and severance, PCG operating losses of $1.4 million and costs of $0.9 million related primarily to the wind-down of
Spheral Solar. To offset a portion of the remaining costs anticipated to be incurred over the next several quarters, management
intends to dispose of redundant and non-core assets. The payback period on the costs of these operational improvements is
expected to be less than one year.
Subsequent to fiscal 2009, the Company will focus on growth and diversification of product offerings.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Note to Reader
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited Consolidated
Financial Statements for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 (“Consolidated Financial Statements”) which have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Amounts are expressed in Canadian
currency unless otherwise noted. Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form, may
be found on SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.
The Company has two reportable segments: Automation Systems Group (“ASG”) and Photowatt Technologies (“Photowatt”)
which includes Photowatt France (the ongoing Photowatt Technologies operations), Photowatt USA (a small module assembly
and sales operation closed during fiscal 2008) and Spheral Solar (a halted development project that has been wound down). Any
reference to solar production capacity assumes the use of polysilicon at 15% cell efficiency, unless otherwise stated. Actual solar
capacity may vary materially for a number of reasons including the use of UMGSi, changes in cell efficiency and/or changes in
production processes. References to Photowatt’s cell ”efficiency” means the percentage of incident energy that is converted into
electrical energy in a solar cell. Solar cells and modules are sold based on wattage output. “Silicon” refers to a variety of silicon
feedstock, including polysilicon, UMGSi and polysilicon powders and fines.

Non-GAAP Measures
Throughout this document the term “operating earnings” is used to denote earnings (loss) from operations. EBITDA is also used
and is defined as earnings (loss) from operations excluding depreciation, amortization (which includes amortization of
intangible assets) and segment and division allocation of corporate costs. The term “margin” refers to an amount as a
percentage of revenue. The terms “earnings from operations”, “operating earnings”, “margin”, “operating loss”,
“operating results”, “operating margin”, “EBITDA”, “Order Bookings” and “Order Backlog” do not have any standardized
meaning prescribed within GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.
Operating earnings and EBITDA are some of the measures the Company uses to evaluate the performance of its segments. ATS
presents EBITDA to show its performance before depreciation and amortization. Management believes that ATS shareholders
and potential investors in ATS use non-GAAP financial measures such as operating earnings and EBITDA in making investment
decisions about the Company and measuring its operational results. A reconciliation of EBITDA to total Company revenue and
earnings from operations for the three and twelve month periods ending March 31, 2008 and 2007 is contained in the MD&A.
EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for net income determined in accordance with GAAP. Order Bookings represent
new orders for the supply of automation systems that management believes are firm. Order Backlog is the estimated unearned
portion of ASG revenue on customer contracts that are in process and have not been completed at the specified date.

AUTOMATION SYSTEMS GROUP
Overview
The Automation Systems Group is an industry-leading automation solutions provider to some of the world’s largest
multinational companies. ASG has expertise in custom automation, repeat automation, repetitive equipment
manufacturing (REM) and value-added services.
ASG categorizes its market segments into five industry groups: healthcare, computer-electronics, automotive, energy and
“other” markets. Other markets for ASG include a variety of industries such as consumer products and appliances. Contract
values for individual automation systems are often in excess of $1.0 million. Given the custom nature of these assignments and
depending on contract size, contract durations vary greatly, with typical durations ranging from 6-12 months. Selling prices for
REM solutions range from less than $0.1 million to more than $1.0 million per unit, depending on the size and complexity of the
system.
With broad and in-depth knowledge across multiple industries and technical fields, ASG is able to deliver “single source”
solutions that can lower customer costs, accelerate delivery, provide control over quality and enhance the customer’s return on
investment. ASG’s relationships with customers often begin with planning and feasibility studies. In situations where the
customer is seeking in-depth analysis before committing to a project, ATS can provide objective analysis to verify the economics
and feasibility of different types of automation, set objectives for factors such as line speed, assess production processes for
manufacturability and calculate the total cost of ownership.
When a contract for an automation solution is received, ASG typically provides a number of services, including engineering
design, prototyping, process verification, specification writing, software development, automation simulation, equipment
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design and build, third-party equipment qualification, procurement and integration, as well as automation system installation,
product line start up, documentation, customer training and after-installation support. Following the installation of first-time
custom automation, ASG may supply repeat automation systems to customers that leverage engineering design completed in
the original custom automation assignment. For customers seeking complex equipment replication, ASG’s REM services include
value engineering, sophisticated supply chain management, integration and manufacturing capabilities. Typically, ASG’s REM
solutions are either integrated into a larger system by the customer for resale, or delivered as a standalone machine to customers
who then resell the completed product.

Competitive Strengths
Management believes ASG has the following competitive strengths:
Global presence, size and critical mass. ASG’s global operating base provides the Company with a unique advantage in serving its
multinational customer base because the competitive markets in which the Company operates are largely populated by
competitors often focused on narrow geographic and/or industrial markets. ASG’s global presence is of increasing importance to
multinational customers who are employing global manufacturing strategies. Currently, ASG operates in nine countries globally
including Canada, the United States, China, Singapore, Malaysia, Germany, Switzerland, France and the United Kingdom.
Management believes that ASG’s scale and locations make ATS one of the largest providers of automation systems globally, and
provide it with competitive advantages in undertaking larger, multi-jurisdictional customer programs that are becoming
increasingly common. Asia and China in particular are rapidly growing markets for manufacturing. Management believes
ATS’s presence in China provides the Company with an advantage in serving multinational customers that are executing global
manufacturing strategies and increasing their presence in China.
Technical skills, capabilities and experience. Automation manufacturing is a knowledge-based business. ASG has designed,
manufactured, assembled and serviced thousands of automation systems worldwide since 1978 and has an extensive knowledge
base and accumulated design experience. Management believes ASG’s broad experience in many different industry sectors, with
many diverse technologies, along with its talented workforce and ability to provide custom automation, repeat automation,
REM solutions and value-added services, position the Company well to serve a growing number of multinational customers in
various industry sectors.
Customer relationships. ASG serves some of the world’s largest multinational companies. Most of ASG’s customers are repeat
customers and many have long-standing relationships with ATS, often spanning more than a decade. In fiscal 2008, management
estimates that approximately 80% of ASG revenue was earned from repeat customers.
Recognized name. ATS is well known within the global automation industry due to its long history of innovation and broad
scope of operations. Management believes that ATS’s brand name and global reputation tend to improve sales prospecting,
allowing the Company to be considered for a wide variety of assignments.
Total solutions capabilities. Management believes ATS gains significant advantages because ASG provides total turnkey solutions
in automation. This allows customers to single source their most complex projects to ATS rather than rely on multiple equipment
builders.

ASG Business Strategy: Fiscal 2009
ASG’s immediate objective is to improve profitability in fiscal 2009. To achieve this objective, management has defined a focused
set of action plans, including:
Improve core operations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, management performed a review of current ASG operations
and has started to implement changes intended to improve the profitability of ASG, including:
k

Improving program management and execution: It is typical for program margins to deteriorate between the time a program
is awarded to ATS and when it is delivered and installed at the customer site. Through increased discipline and standardized
program monitoring processes which are being implemented, management believes that margin slippage can be reduced
significantly;

k

Increasing the degree of internal sub-contracting and co-operation: ASG divisions often perform entire programs at one
division, underutilizing the technical expertise and cost structure of other divisions. The Company is implementing global
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capacity management processes, and has changed leadership incentive programs and inter-divisional subcontracting
processes to encourage increased internal subcontracting and co-operation. Management believes this will reduce costs;
k

Skills transfer: ASG has substantial technical automation skills globally in a wide variety of industries. Management is
implementing protocols and leadership incentives that will encourage the transfer of skills to increase capabilities in all
divisions, and result in the appropriate technical skills being deployed on each customer program. Management believes this
will reduce program margin deterioration;

k

Standardization of designs: ASG has over 30 years of automation design experience. However, the Company does not
adequately leverage past designs. Management intends to implement processes whereby ATS engineers have access to and
leverage historical designs as a starting point. Management believes this will reduce design hours and costs;

k

Material cost reduction: Supply agreements have typically been negotiated locally and do not fully leverage the Company’s
global purchasing power. An improved supply chain initiative has been launched to analyze the Company’s largest suppliers
and materials’ purchases with the objective of signing global purchase agreements with ASG’s key suppliers. Management
believes this initiative will result in lower global material costs;

k

Standard products: In conjunction with initiatives to standardize designs and reduce material costs, the Company is reviewing
major sub-components used globally and intends to move towards using standard products in design and build, which
management believes will further reduce both material and design costs.

k

Protecting and leveraging internally-developed intellectual property: In early fiscal 2009, ATS launched a program to identify
and patent new technologies developed by ASG. Management believes that there is a significant technology base that can be
leveraged into increased project margins if identified and priced appropriately;

Change approach to market. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, management examined ASG’s approach to market. Several
areas for improvement were identified along with a number of specific strategies to address each need, including:
k

Central bid review and approval: In the past, large bids were often reviewed and approved locally, leading to inconsistent
application of terms and conditions, bidding low program margins and high levels of working capital commitments.
Management has implemented central review of all significant customer bids, including operational, legal and finance
approval. Management believes this new process will increase profitability of large customer contracts, while reducing
working capital commitments, credit risk, technical risk, contractual risk and increasing co-ordination of services to customers
globally;

k

Establish market discriminators in the automation business: The Company’s past approach to sales and marketing
concentrated on responding to requests for proposals. This resulted in the Company providing a commoditized product,
frequently competing solely on price. Going forward, the Company’s sales and marketing group is developing sales
campaigns and targeting automation solutions for its customers based on differentiating technological solutions, value
of outcomes achieved by customers, and global capability. By developing automation solutions that increase value to
customers, and separating the costing and pricing functions within the organization, management believes program margins
will improve;

k

Take a strategic, global customer approach: Multinational customers are often managed regionally by ASG. Many divisions
perform work for these customers locally, not globally, and opportunistically, not strategically. Management has identified
global customer accounts, and has started to assign global account managers to these multinational customers. All sales
activity on these accounts will be monitored and approved centrally. Management believes this approach will benefit both
customers and ASG.

Shape divisions. ASG operates many smaller divisions that lack sufficient scope and character. Management believes that for each
division to be successful it must have sufficient scope to recruit world class leadership and technical talent, and to execute large,
multinational customer assignments. In addition, management believes that in order to fully leverage the Company’s global
capabilities, divisions must have the character to specialize in certain types of customer assignments, such as specializing in
certain industries like healthcare or energy, or specializing in certain core technical competencies such as test systems. Such
centres of excellence could then be leveraged globally to deliver differentiating solutions to ASG customers. During fiscal 2009, a
strategic review of all divisions will be performed.
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Overview of Fiscal 2008
During fiscal 2008, ASG continued to take action to improve performance. In addition to the aforementioned strategies
developed and implemented in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008:
k

Order bookings of $531 million during fiscal 2008 resulted in the highest period-end backlog in nine quarters at $232 million,
reflecting the successful penetration into emerging automation markets;

k

Derived over 70% of its Order Bookings and approximately 80% of its revenue from repeat customers, reflecting ASG’s ability
to deliver customer value;

k

Continued to build upon its solar and nuclear automation expertise, and realized record revenues of $65.7 million in the
energy sector;

k

Transitioned one of its China-based divisions from an automation facility to repetitive equipment manufacturing to support
the growing REM business and provide a low-cost manufacturing facility for REM products;

k

Implemented cost control measures, including redefining relationships with key suppliers to reduce materials costs of ASG
products, evaluating all discretionary spending, and reviewing all support structure costs. In addition, the cost structure of
ASG was brought in line with its business requirements as a workforce restructuring was implemented at a cost of
approximately $9.0 million in the fourth quarter and $11.1 million for fiscal 2008.

ASG Revenue

(in millions of dollars, except employment)

Revenue by industry

Q4 2008

Healthcare

$

39.7

Computer-Electronics
Automotive

29.4
29.4

Energy
Other
Total Revenue

Q4 2007
$

32.1

2008
$

135.7

2007
$

149.4

34.7
26.3

116.0
109.5

142.7
114.9

17.7

8.9

65.7

17.6

9.1

11.8

38.1

41.4

$

125.3

$

113.8

$

465.0

$

466.0

$

77.0
24.4

$

73.0
17.1

$

265.3
100.5

$

278.8
94.2

Revenue by installation location
North America
Europe

23.9

Asia/Other
Total Revenue

$

Employees at year end

125.3

23.7
$

113.8

99.2
$

465.0
2,310

93.0
$

466.0
2,289

Fourth Quarter
Fourth quarter ASG revenue increased 10% or $11.5 million compared to the same quarter a year ago. This improvement was due
to growth in Order Bookings and Order Backlog experienced in the first half of fiscal 2008.
By industrial market, healthcare revenue increased 24% year over year on strong Order Backlog entering the quarter. Computerelectronics revenue decreased 15%, primarily on lower sales in Asia and the U.S. Automotive revenue increased 12%, reflecting
strong automotive revenue in Europe. ASG revenue from the energy market increased 99%, driven by activity in the nuclear and
solar industries. Revenue from “other” markets decreased 23% due primarily to lower revenues in the consumer products
industry.
On a regional basis, strong revenue growth in ASG’s Canadian operations was partially offset by revenue declines in U.S. and
Asian operations. REM revenue increased 35% to $12.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, compared to $9.5 million a
year ago, primarily reflecting increased order flow from existing customers. REM currently generates revenue primarily from
customers in the healthcare industry, but new orders secured in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 will advance the business into
the solar industry.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Quarter-over-quarter foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted ASG revenues by an estimated $12.8 million for the
fourth quarter, compared to a year ago, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

Full Year
Annual ASG revenue was comparable to fiscal 2007. Lower Order Backlog entering fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 resulted in
lower levels of revenue during the first half of fiscal 2008. This was largely offset by higher revenue in the second half of the year
from improved Order Bookings during the year.
By industrial market, healthcare revenue decreased 9% on lower Order Backlog entering the fiscal year. Increased fiscal 2008
healthcare Order Bookings partially offset the lower Order Backlog entering the year. Computer-electronics revenue decreased
19% primarily on lower revenue in the U.S. and Asia. Automotive revenue decreased 5%, reflecting challenges in the North
American auto parts sector, partially offset by higher automotive revenue in Europe. Revenue from the energy market increased
273%, reflecting nuclear and solar industry market penetration. Revenue from “other” markets decreased 8%.
On a regional basis, strong revenue growth in ASG’s Canadian operations was offset by lower revenue in the Asian and
U.S. operations. REM revenue increased 23% to $49.1 million during fiscal 2008, compared to $39.8 million in fiscal 2007,
primarily reflecting increased order flow from existing customers.
Year over year foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted ASG revenues by an estimated $30.8 million for fiscal 2008,
compared to fiscal 2007, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

ASG Operating Results

(in millions of dollars)

Q4 2008
$

Earnings (loss) from operations

(4.2)

Q4 2007
$

2.1

Amortization
EBITDA

$

(2.1)

(4.5)

2008
$

3.0
$

(1.5)

0.9

2007
$

8.2
$

9.1

6.4
11.5

$

17.9

Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2008 fourth quarter operating loss of $4.2 million included severance and restructuring costs of $9.0 million, compared to
an operating loss of $4.5 million including severance costs of $2.6 million in same quarter a year ago. Fiscal 2008 fourth quarter
severance and restructuring costs affected approximately 250 positions in North America, Europe and Asia, and included
workforce reductions at small operating facilities in Thailand and Michigan, which will be closed in fiscal 2009. Management
anticipates continuing costs associated with finalizing the wind-up of these two small operations to negatively impact operating
earnings in the first half of fiscal 2009. Fiscal 2007 severance costs were associated with workforce reductions of 180 positions
primarily in North America.
Excluding severance costs, fiscal 2008 fourth quarter operating earnings were $4.8 million (operating margin of 4%), compared
to an operating loss of $1.9 million in fiscal 2007. This improvement was driven by increased revenue, reduced amortization and
better program execution in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to a year ago. On a regional basis, improvements in
Canadian operating results before severance and restructuring costs were partially offset by reduced earnings in the Company’s
U.S. and Asian operations.
Foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted ASG operating earnings in the fourth quarter fiscal 2008 by an estimated
$3.1 million compared to a year ago, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

Full Year
Fiscal 2008 operating earnings of $0.9 million included severance and restructuring costs of $11.1 million, compared to operating
earnings of $6.4 million including severance costs of $3.4 million in fiscal 2007. Fiscal 2008 severance and restructuring affected
approximately 255 positions in North America, Europe and Asia and included closure costs of small operating facilities in
Thailand and Michigan.
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Excluding severance costs, fiscal 2008 operating earnings were $12.0 million (operating margin of 3%), compared to operating
earnings of $9.8 million (operating margin of 2%) in fiscal 2007. Improvements in operating earnings excluding severance costs
were driven by reduced amortization and improvements in program execution realized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.
These improvements were offset by lower operating earnings in the first and second quarters of the year, driven by low Order
Backlog entering the year. On a regional basis, improvements in Canadian and European operating results before severance and
restructuring costs were partially offset by reduced earnings in U.S. and Asian operations.
Foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted fiscal 2008 ASG operating earnings by an estimated $8.1 million compared
to a year ago, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

Order Bookings and Order Backlog
There can be significant changes in Order Bookings and Order Backlog levels from quarter to quarter. For this reason, and to plan
and manage global factory utilization, management continuously assesses quotation and active order prospects, as well as Order
Backlog levels.

ASG Order Bookings by Quarter

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2008
Q1
Q2

$

146
133

Q3

115

Q4

137

Total Order Bookings

$

531

Fiscal 2007
$

98
101
109
134

$

442

Fiscal 2008 Order Bookings were $531 million, 20% higher than the previous year, driven primarily by strong Order Bookings in
healthcare and energy sectors. Order Bookings during the first 10 weeks of fiscal 2009 were approximately $110 million.

ASG Order Backlog by Industry

(in millions of dollars, except percentage change)

March 31, 2008
Healthcare

$

53

9.4%

41

34

20.6%

Automotive
Energy

41
68

50
33

(18.0)%
106.1%

Other

24

15

60.0%

185

25.4%

$

232

$

Percentage
Change

Computer-electronics

Total

58

March 31, 2007

$

Order Backlog of $232 million at March 31, 2008 was 25% higher than at March 31, 2007 primarily reflecting higher Order
Bookings throughout fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007.

ASG Order Backlog Continuity

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2008
$
185

Opening Order Backlog
Revenue
Order Bookings
Order Backlog adjustments1
Period end Order Backlog

$

Fiscal 2007
$
219

(465)

(466)

531
(19)

442
(10)

232

$

185

1 Order Backlog adjustments include foreign exchange and cancellations. Fiscal 2008 Order Backlog adjustments include a U.S. $12.3 million order
cancellation.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
Increased healthcare Order Backlog primarily reflects higher Order Backlog in North America, which more than offset lower
healthcare Order Backlog in Europe compared to the prior year. Increased computer-electronics Order Backlog primarily reflects
higher Order Backlog in North America and Europe, which more than offset lower computer-electronics Order Backlog in Asia
compared to the prior year. Lower automotive Order Backlog reflects continued weakness in the North American “Big 3”
automotive sector; however, European automotive Order Backlog remained consistent with the prior year. The increase in
energy Order Backlog reflects strong Order Bookings in both the nuclear and solar industries during fiscal 2008. During the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company secured a $27 million Order Booking in the solar industry with a new REM customer.
Management believes this order will significantly increase REM’s solar market penetration.

ASG Outlook
Due to the increase in Order Bookings in the third and fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, and the strong resulting Order Backlog,
management believes ASG factory utilization will improve during fiscal 2009. As ASG continues to stabilize following a period of
considerable change, the Company’s Asian operations and European operations are expected to improve. Management believes
that the initiatives taken during the fourth quarter, and the expanding application of the new ASG strategy will lead to
improved core ASG operating performance in fiscal 2009. However, the benefits of several of the fiscal 2009 initiatives may only
be fully realized during the second half of fiscal 2009 and into fiscal 2010, particularly changes in the ASG approach to market
and the results of reviewing the strategy and scope of all ASG divisions. Management expects the improved core operating
results from the aforementioned actions will be partially offset by implementation costs, including ongoing costs associated
with the wind-down of operations in Michigan and Thailand. However, these measures are expected to improve profitability,
cash flow and organic growth thereafter.
Management believes strength in the Canadian dollar, ongoing restructuring within the North American manufacturing sector
and the broader deterioration in the North American economy may present the Company’s Canadian and U.S. operations with
challenges during fiscal 2009.
With respect to fundamental market demand, management believes that continued global consolidation of manufacturing and
increased pressures on manufacturers to become more cost competitive will continue to drive customer need for ASG’s
automation systems. Overall, ASG’s technical capabilities, along with its innovative and cost-effective approach to
automation, have allowed ATS to continue to penetrate new markets and stay on the leading edge of technological
advancements in automation. These capabilities have allowed ASG to apply its automation expertise in new and innovative
applications such as the solar and nuclear markets. Management believes these market factors, combined with the fiscal 2009
action plan it has put in place, will result in improved ASG operating performance.

PHOTOWATT TECHNOLOGIES
Overview
The core business of Photowatt Technologies is Photowatt France, an integrated solar ingot, wafer, cell and module
manufacturer located near Lyon, France. Photowatt France designs, manufactures and sells solar modules and installation
kits, and provides solar power system design and other value-added services, principally in Western Europe. It also manufactures
wafers and solar cells, primarily for use in manufacturing its modules. Solar modules manufactured by Photowatt France are used
by businesses, institutions and homeowners to generate electric power. It sells its products under the Photowatt brand to a
network of independent solar power systems distributors and installers. Photowatt France has developed and sold photovoltaic
products since 1979. Photowatt France owns and occupies a 160,000 square foot manufacturing facility.
Photowatt France’s production process is composed of four stages: ingot production, wafer sawing, solar cell production and
solar module assembly. Its manufacturing process begins with the growth of ingots from silicon using specialized furnaces. The
ingots are then cut into bricks, and the bricks are sawed into wafers using an abrasive solution and specialized wire saws. Next,
the wafers are processed into solar cells, which are connected in series to form a solar module. The raw materials required in the
manufacturing process include silicon and other feedstock, tempered glass, plastic films, anti-reflective and aluminum coatings,
metal frames, and connecting systems.
As of March 31, 2008, Photowatt France had annual ingot, wafer, cell and module production capacity of approximately 60
megawatts (“MW”), calculated assuming the use of polysilicon achieving approximately 15% efficiency.
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Competitive Strengths
Management believes that Photowatt France has the following competitive strengths:
Integrated manufacturing capabilities. Photowatt France is considered “integrated” in that it participates in each of the ingot,
wafer, cell and module stages of the solar module production process. Management believes that being an integrated
manufacturer gives Photowatt France several advantages relative to many of its competitors, including:
k

The ability to capture a greater portion of the profits available by participating across a significant portion of the solar value
chain;

k

Reduced dependence on third-party suppliers for ingots, wafers and cells;

k

Enhanced research and development capabilities to increase cell efficiency levels;

k

The flexibility, within the wafer manufacturing process, to optimize the mix of feedstock based on price and performance;

k

The ability to process a wide variety of silicon feedstock;

k

Improved process development capabilities that allow the business to continually evaluate the impact of changes throughout
the production process.

UMGSi silicon processing technologies. While all forms of silicon are in short supply, Photowatt France has developed processes
and technologies to manufacture solar cells from UMGSi silicon, a lower grade of silicon that management believes can be
acquired more readily than polysilicon. This is an important advantage since there is not enough polysilicon available to meet
current industry demand and polysilicon is a primary raw material used by most solar manufacturers. This supply shortage has led
to sharply higher prices for polysilicon and has adversely impacted many solar cell manufacturers’ sales growth and profitability.
Advanced wafer-sawing capabilities. Wafers used in solar cells are cut from silicon bricks using specialized wire saws. In general,
thinner wafers result in lower production costs because more wafers can be produced from each brick. However, very thin wafers
are difficult to process because they are more fragile, and substantial technical expertise is required to develop processes that
ensure acceptable yields. Wire thickness is also important because it determines how much silicon is lost during the cutting
process. Photowatt France successfully produces wafers with thicknesses less than 220 microns.
Established market positions and relationships. Photowatt France has successfully sold solar products in Europe for 30 years. It
has established market positions in several Western European countries that have well developed and growing solar markets,
including Germany, which is currently the world’s largest market for solar power. Photowatt France is also developing a presence
in emerging growth markets for solar power in Europe, including Spain, Italy, and France. Management believes Photowatt
France has well-established relationships with key distributors and installers and that Photowatt is differentiated from
competitors by timely delivery as a result of its vertical integration, technical expertise and reputation for producing quality
solar modules at competitive price and efficiency levels.

Photowatt France Business Strategy
The Company intends to position Photowatt France to eventually become a standalone Company through the following
strategies:
Fix operations in the existing Photowatt France facility: Changes being implemented include:
k

Increase cell efficiency of UMGSi products: During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, UMGSi average cell efficiency improved to
approximately 13.5% from 12.6% a year earlier. Photowatt France intends to continue to invest in research and development
during fiscal 2009, with the objective of producing UMGSi products with cell efficiency exceeding 14% by the end of fiscal
2009. Management believes that increases in cell efficiency directly translate into higher operating earnings as higher cell
efficiency results in more watts to sell at a given level of production (see “Advance the PV Alliance” below);

k

Invest approximately 320 million on expansion of Photowatt France and cost improvement initiatives: Investments will be
focused on balancing plant capacity and improving the productivity and efficiency of the facility. As part of this process, solar
automation experts from the Company’s ASG segment have developed a plan that management believes will reduce
Photowatt France’s manufacturing costs and increase output in the existing facility.;

k

Utilize supply chain: In order to maximize Photowatt France’s output capabilities, the Company has entered into supply
arrangements whereby third parties will supplement Photowatt France’s production capacity in the areas of cell and module
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production to increase the total output Photowatt France can achieve from its current silicon supply agreements (see
“Photowatt Technologies Overview of Fiscal 2008 — Silicon supply agreements”);
k

Evaluate all discretionary spending and focus on reducing other expenditures: During the first quarter of fiscal 2009,
management launched an initiative to evaluate all discretionary and overhead expenditures, with the objective of
identifying areas of cost reduction at Photowatt France.

Advance the PV Alliance: The PV Alliance (“PVA”) is a joint venture (40% Photowatt France, 40% EDEV and 20% CEA). The PVA
contemplates: (i) research to improve the efficiency of both polysilicon and UMGSi solar cells; and (ii) potential expansion in
France through one or more 100 MW facilities. The PVA was officially launched on November 9, 2007 by the Prime Minister of
France. The partners subsequently began development activities. The initial phase of item (i) above has been initiated:
k

A 25 MW cell line will be established at Photowatt France in order to improve and test cell efficiency. Photowatt France and
EDEV each have first right of refusal for 50% of the commercial output;

k

Photowatt France will supply wafers, leased building space, clean room facilities, and provide personnel, certain support
infrastructure and know-how;

k

CEA and EDEV will supply the cell line equipment, financing and certain intellectual property;

k

The intended benefit of Phase 1 is the potential increase in cell efficiency by up to 2%;

k

Definitive agreements are yet to be negotiated.

Photowatt France’s investment is anticipated to be less than 310 million. Management believes that the payback period of direct
investments in the PVA will be approximately 2 years. Management also believes that Photowatt France’s access to technology
developed by PVA will allow the Company to increase UMGSi and polysilicon cell efficiency more quickly than through its own
research efforts. Upon successful completion of this initial research phase, further research phases are contemplated.
Secure silicon feedstock: The increase in demand for solar modules has led to an industry-wide silicon shortage. Management
believes that in order to support further capacity expansion, Photowatt France requires appropriate secure access to UMGSi
and/or polysilicon. Management believes that it currently has sufficient silicon supply to support current levels of production
capacity through fiscal 2012 (See “Fiscal 2008 Overview — Silicon supply agreements”).
Prepare to increase scale: As Photowatt France secures appropriate silicon supply agreements, the Company will seek to secure
agreements with customers with a view to expanding output, which may include strategic downstream relationships and/or
further development of the PV Alliance. Management believes that it has secured customer agreements for the majority of
UMGSi output at current levels of production through fiscal 2009 (See “Fiscal 2008 Overview — Customer supply agreements”).
Management believes that profitability, increased utilization of the current facility, and a secure silicon supply are prerequisites
for Photowatt to become a standalone company.

Overview of Fiscal 2008
During fiscal 2008, Photowatt France continued to take action to improve performance and secure silicon supply agreements
and customer sales agreements.
Operational improvements: During fiscal 2008, Photowatt France ramped up production and cell efficiency of UMGSi products.
At the outset of this ramp up — during the first and second quarters of fiscal 2008 — UMGSi cell efficiency was approximately
12.8% and high scrap rates and low throughput were experienced. These factors, combined with the costs of the ramp up,
decreased selling prices of polysilicon products and higher factory and overhead costs associated with a capacity expansion that
was completed at the end of fiscal 2007, led to operating losses through the first nine months of fiscal 2008. By the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2008, cell efficiency of UMGSi products had improved to an average of approximately 13.5%, and UMGSi scrap rates and
throughput had stabilized, resulting in a return to operating earnings at Photowatt France during the fourth quarter.
Silicon supply agreements: During fiscal 2008, Photowatt France continued to enter into long-term supply agreements to
purchase UMGSi and polysilicon. Significant agreements now in place include:
k

During fiscal 2008, Photowatt France entered into a multi-year contract to purchase UMGSi from Dow Corning. Under the
agreement, Dow Corning is obligated to deliver, and Photowatt France is required to purchase a total of 1,700 tonnes of
refined metallurgical silicon between April 2007 and December 31, 2011. Deliveries under the contract commenced on
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schedule. Management believes the terms of the contract, including the requirement for Photowatt France to make advance
payments against UMGSi to be supplied, are similar to silicon supply agreements entered into by other companies.
k

In fiscal 2007, Photowatt France entered into a 10-year irrevocable silicon supply contract with Deutsche Solar AG for the
supply of solar-grade, polysilicon wafers beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. Under the agreement, Deutsche Solar is
obliged to deliver, and Photowatt France is obliged to accept, four million wafers per annum which are expected to support
the manufacture of an estimated 15 MW of solar power products per annum, at current average yields. In June 2007,
Photowatt entered into a second similar contract with Deutsche Solar AG for the long-term supply of polysilicon wafers.
Under this agreement that begins January 2010 and extends through December 2017, Deutsche Solar is obliged to deliver,
and Photowatt is obliged to accept, three million polysilicon wafers in calendar 2010 and then four million wafers each year
thereafter. Photowatt France plans to process these wafers into solar cells and modules to support an estimated 11 MW of
production in the first year and 15 MW each year thereafter at current average yields. Under both contracts, advance
payments will be applied against the price of silicon wafers received during the life of the commitments and can only be
refunded in the event of the supplier’s failure to deliver polysilicon wafers in accordance with the agreements. Under the
contracts, the price of the silicon wafers will be adjusted at the beginning of each calendar year based on a predetermined
formula;

k

Photowatt has also received confirmed purchase orders from a China-based supplier of UMGSi to receive approximately 450
tonnes in fiscal 2009. Actual shipments Photowatt receives may be materially less than specified;

k

In September 2007, a multi-year agreement was signed to purchase high-purity polysilicon to support approximately 14 MWs
of solar production per annum starting in January 2010 and continuing for a nine-year period;

Customer supply agreements: During fiscal 2008, Photowatt France entered into customer supply agreements, including an
agreement to supply EDF Energies Nouvelles with 17.5 MWs of UMGSi modules in calendar 2008 and a minimum of 10 MWs per
annum from January 2009 through to December 31, 2010 — for a total of at least 37.5 MWs.
Other solar: During fiscal 2008, ATS closed Photowatt USA, a non-strategic module assembly facility located in New Mexico and
halted internal development work on Spheral Solar (“SSP”), a solar development project based on silicon sphere technology.

Photowatt Technologies Revenue

(in millions of dollars, except employment)

Q4 2008
Photowatt France
Other Solar
Total Revenue

$

61.4

$

(0.1)
61.3

Q4 2007
$

37.8

$

0.7
38.5

2008

2007

$

196.6

$

150.1

$

2.0
198.6

$

0.5
150.6

Revenue by Product
Polysilicon products
UMGSi products

$

24.6
36.7

$

34.7
3.8

$

101.8
96.8

$

145.0
5.6

Total Revenue

$

61.3

$

38.5

$

198.6

$

150.6

Employees at year end

833

693

Fourth Quarter
Photowatt Technologies’ fourth quarter revenue of $61.3 million was 59% higher than in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
Higher year-over-year revenues primarily reflected a 64% increase in total MWs sold at Photowatt France to 13.1 MWs from
8.0 MWs in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. Growth in MWs sold resulted from increased ingot, wafer, cell and module
production capacity at Photowatt France which came on line in March 2007. In the fourth quarter, Photowatt France also
increased revenue from the sale of module systems (“Systems”) to approximately $9.1 million from $0.4 million in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2007. Systems include modules, combined with installation kits, solar power system design and/or other value
added services.
Photowatt France’s revenue reflects the change in revenue mix from polysilicon products to products made from UMGSi. Total
UMGSi products represented $36.7 million of fiscal 2008 fourth quarter revenue compared to $3.8 million a year ago. Average
cell efficiency was improved in the fourth quarter to approximately 13.5% for UMGSi cells, compared to approximately 12.6%
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
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Revenue from polysilicon products was $24.6 million in the fourth quarter, compared to $34.7 million in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2007. Average polysilicon cell efficiency improved in the fourth quarter to approximately 15.6%, compared to
approximately 14.8% during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
Foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted Photowatt France fourth quarter revenues by an estimated $1.3 million
compared to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the Euro.

Full Year
For the year ended March 31, 2008, revenues increased 32% compared to fiscal 2007. Higher revenues reflected an increase in
total MWs sold at Photowatt France to 43.6 MWs in fiscal 2008 from 30.9 MWs in fiscal 2007, partially offset by reduced average
selling prices for polysilicon modules and by increased production of UMGSi modules which have a lower average selling price
than polysilicon modules.
Photowatt France’s annual revenue reflects the change in revenue mix from polysilicon products to products made from UMGSi.
Total UMGSi products represented $96.8 million of fiscal 2008 revenue compared to $5.6 million a year ago. Average UMGSi
product selling prices increased 3% during fiscal 2008, with UMGSi modules being sold at a 0% to 10% discount compared to
polysilicon modules on a per-watt basis during the year.
Annual revenue from polysilicon products was $101.8 million in fiscal 2008, compared to $145.0 million in fiscal 2007. Average
polysilicon product prices decreased 2% during the year.
Foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted Photowatt France fiscal 2008 revenues by an estimated $1.3 million
compared to fiscal 2007, primarily reflecting a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the Euro.

Photowatt Technologies Operating Results

(in millions of dollars)

Q4 2008

Q4 2007

2008

2007

Operating Earnings (Loss):
Photowatt France
Other Solar

$ 3.3
15.9

$ 3.0
(34.1)

$ (6.9)
10.1

$ 19.4
(49.9)

Photowatt Technologies Operating Earnings (Loss)

$19.2

$(31.1)

$ 3.2

$(30.5)

Photowatt France EBITDA
Operating earnings (loss)

$ 3.3

$ 3.0

$ (6.9)

$ 19.4

3.5

2.9

13.2

9.5

$ 6.8

$ 5.9

$ 6.3

$ 28.9

Amortization
Photowatt France EBITDA

Fourth Quarter
Photowatt France had operating earnings of $3.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, compared to operating earnings of
$3.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. Photowatt France’s most recent operating performance includes approximately
$0.2 million of costs related to the investment in the PV Alliance. Photowatt France amortization expense was $3.5 million in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, compared to $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
Photowatt France continues to focus on improving its profitability, particularly on UMGSi products, through cost reductions and
improved cell efficiency. During the fourth quarter, significant production improvements that lowered UMGSi usage per watt
and improved cell efficiency continued to increase the profitability of UMGSi products.
Compared to the prior year quarter, increased revenue during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 of $23.6 million positively
impacted Photowatt France operating earnings. This contribution was offset by a number of factors, including:
k

Increased costs of polysilicon feedstock due to industry shortages;

k

Higher costs of using UMGSi feedstock compared to polysilicon used a year ago, despite the operational improvements made
using UMGSi during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008;
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k

A $0.6 million increase in amortization compared to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 primarily as a result of the capacity
expansion completed in fiscal 2007;

k

Increased factory overhead costs in the fourth quarter of this year compared to the fourth quarter last year reflecting higher
activity levels and increased capacity.

“Other Solar” includes Spheral Solar, Photowatt USA and inter-solar eliminations. Fourth quarter operating earnings included a
gain of $16.8 million on the sale of non-solar grade silicon that had a nominal carrying value. This gain more than offset ongoing
costs associated with the wind-down of these operations.
Fourth quarter fiscal 2007 operating loss included solar corporate costs of $11.1 million related to the withdrawal of the solar
IPO. A year ago, Spheral Solar and Photowatt USA incurred non-cash charges of $17.0 million, comprised of $16.5 million for
Spheral Solar and $0.5 million for Photowatt USA, related to the decision to halt Spheral Solar’s internal development and to
close the module assembly facility in New Mexico. This non-cash charge included fixed asset, inventory and other working capital
write-downs of $11.7 million and $5.3 million related to a non-cash provision against a portion of the Company’s Canadian
investment tax credits generated by Spheral Solar.
The estimated effect of changes in foreign exchange rates increased fourth quarter fiscal 2008 operating earnings by $0.3 million
compared to the fourth quarter fiscal 2007.

Full Year
Photowatt France incurred an operating loss of $6.9 million in fiscal 2008 compared to operating earnings of $19.4 million in
fiscal 2007. Lower profitability in fiscal 2008 primarily reflected the launch of UMGSi products. UMGSi products were sold at up to
a 10% discount compared to polysilicon products, and produced lower cell efficiency resulting in fewer watts to sell at a given
level of production. In addition, Photowatt France initially experienced high scrap rates and reduced throughput as it ramped
UMGSi production. However, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 UMGSi cell efficiency improved, selling price differentials
decreased and throughput and scrap rates for UMGSi products achieved more acceptable levels. Other factors negatively
impacting fiscal 2008 operating earnings compared to fiscal 2007 included lower average selling prices for polysilicon products,
higher amortization and factory overhead due to the capacity expansion completed at the end of fiscal 2007 and a number of
charges incurred in fiscal 2008 including $4.2 million related to a customer dispute and $1.4 million related to a non-recoverable
deposit with a supplier.
Photowatt Technologies had operating earnings of $3.2 million in fiscal 2008, compared to an operating loss of $30.5 million in
fiscal 2007. Operating losses of Photowatt France in fiscal 2008 were offset by a curtailment of spending at Spheral Solar and
Photowatt USA and the $16.8 million gain in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 related to the sale of non-solar grade silicon. Fiscal
2007 included the negative impact of the aforementioned $28.1 million in incremental solar IPO costs and the non-cash
impairment charges of Photowatt Technologies incurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.

Photowatt France Outlook
Global electricity usage is expected to increase. As demand for electricity continues to increase, the electric power industry is
facing several challenges including: fossil fuel supply constraints and the resulting increase in prices for fossil fuels; electricity
generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure constraints; political and economic instability in many key oil and
natural gas-producing regions; and environmental issues related to fossil fuels. Industry and governments are considering
alternatives to traditional fossil fuels to address these challenges, including renewable energy sources and technologies.
As opposed to fossil fuels, which draw on finite resources, renewable energy is generally unlimited in its availability. Solar power
has several benefits when compared to other renewable energy technologies, including: high reliability; environmental
sustainability – solar cells generate electricity without air, water emissions, noise, vibration, habitat impact or waste
generation; ease of location to the end user; strong match between peak energy generation and peak energy
consumption; and applicability to a wide range of power requirements. Management believes these factors provide a
positive long-term outlook for solar energy businesses.
The development and increased usage of solar power is, and for the foreseeable future will be affected by, and largely
dependent on, the existence of government incentives. A growing number of countries have established attractive incentive
programs for the development of solar and other renewable energy sources. In 2007, two of the largest markets for solar
products, as measured by total installations per annum, were Germany and Spain, each having significant government subsidy
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programs for solar power. Other countries in which Photowatt France sells products such as France and Italy also have significant
government subsidy programs for solar power. Certain jurisdictions, such as Germany, have subsidy programs that are designed
to decline over time. Management believes the solar industry will continue to be impacted by these trends over the long-term.
In the short term, Photowatt France is expected to continue to face the industry-wide issues associated with supply of polysilicon,
and lower average selling prices per watt than in fiscal 2008. UMGSi products were developed by Photowatt France as an
alternative to polysilicon with the objective of creating a competitive advantage. With UMGSi products now being
manufactured by Photowatt France in substantial quantities, the operational focus is to increase the cell efficiency and
reduce the cost per watt of manufacturing UMGSi modules. Given the shortage of polysilicon at reasonable prices,
management expects to continue to use the majority of its manufacturing capacity in fiscal 2009 to produce UMGSi
products. Although significant improvements have been made, until the cell efficiency of these products is further
improved, production of these products is expected to have an adverse impact on profitability compared to historical
margins using polysilicon (secured at lower historical cost than available in the market today).
However, management expects that the improvements in cell efficiency and throughput made during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 with UMGSi products, and the fiscal 2009 operational improvement plan will positively impact Photowatt France operating
earnings during fiscal 2009.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS
Summary of Consolidated Quarterly Data

(in thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Fiscal 2008

Q1

Q3

Q4

Revenue

$

$

146,931

$

174,457

$

Earnings (loss) from operations

$

(6,783)

$

(16,913)

$

24,426

$

8,183

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations, basic

$

(7,058)

$

(15,492)

$

24,365

$

10,343

$

(0.12)

$

(0.23)

$

0.32

$

0.13

$
$

(8,936)
(0.15)

$
$

(18,764)
(0.28)

$
$

(3,662)
(0.05)

$
$

7,939
0.10

and diluted
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

155,407

Q2

Fiscal 2007

Q1

Q2

Revenue
Earnings (loss) from operations

$
$

165,936
4,685

$
$

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$

2,168

$

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations, basic
and diluted

$

0.04

Net income (loss)

$

338

Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

0.01

145,271
(1,001)

Q3

186,474

Q4

$
$

151,887
(1,353)

$
$

151,444
(41,664)

139

$

(566)

$

(78,440)

$

0.00

$

(0.01)

$

(1.31)

$

(2,110)

$

(2,389)

$

(80,854)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.04)

$

(1.35)

ATS typically experiences some seasonality with its revenue and earnings due to summer plant shutdowns by its customers and
summer shutdown at Photowatt France. Accordingly, revenue during the second quarter is usually lower than in the first, third
and fourth quarters. In fiscal 2007, Photowatt France also experienced an extended plant shutdown into the early part of the
third quarter to allow for plant reconfiguration to accommodate additional equipment as part of its expansion. In fiscal 2008,
the Company’s third quarter earnings from operations includes the $31.8 million gain realized on the investment in shares of
Canadian Solar Inc.

Fourth Quarter
Fourth quarter 2007 results have been restated to reflect the reclassification of the Precision Components segment as a
discontinued operation. The impact of this reclassification reduced fourth quarter revenue in fiscal 2007 by $21.0 million;
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reduced loss from operations by $1.7 million; reduced net loss from continuing operations by $2.4 million; and, reduced loss per
share from continuing operations by $0.04 per share.
Fourth quarter fiscal 2008 revenue from continuing operations was $186.5 million, $35.0 million or 23% higher than the same
period a year earlier. This increase primarily reflected a 59% increase in Photowatt revenue on higher MWs produced and sold
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to the same period a year ago. ASG revenue increased 10% due to increased
Order Bookings during fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007. Changes in effective foreign exchange rates reduced consolidated
revenue by an estimated $14.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007.
Fourth quarter consolidated earnings from operations was $8.2 million, compared to a consolidated loss from operations of
$41.7 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. The improvement in fourth quarter earnings from operations in fiscal 2008
reflects operational improvements in ASG, the gain of $16.8 million on scrap silicon sold during the quarter and a reduction in
expenses in the other solar divisions, as these operations are being wound down, partially offset by consolidated severance and
restructuring charges of $11.1 million. Fourth quarter consolidated earnings from operations in fiscal 2007 included
$17.0 million of asset impairment and other charges related to the decision to halt internal development in the Spheral
Solar division, consolidated severance and restructuring charges of $4.2 million and $11.1 million of costs related to the
withdrawal of the solar IPO. Changes in effective foreign exchange rates reduced consolidated operating earnings for the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 by an estimated $2.8 million.

Selected Annual Information

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2006

Revenue

$

663.3

$

614.5

$

627.5

Earnings (loss) from operations

$

8.9

$

(39.3)

$

(97.7)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations — basic and diluted

$
$

12.2
0.17

$
$

(76.7)
(1.28)

$
$

(63.9)
(1.08)

Net loss

$

(23.4)

$

(85.0)

$

(69.3)

Net earnings (loss) per share — basic and diluted
Total assets

$
$

(0.33)
678.0

$
$

(1.42)
601.1

$
$

(1.17)
649.8

Total long-term debt

$

$

39.5

$

39.9

—

Fiscal years 2007 and 2006 have been restated to reflect the reclassification of the Precision Components segment as a
discontinued operation. The impact of this reclassification reduced revenue in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 by $85.5 million
and $98.3 million respectively, decreased loss from operations by $3.4 million in fiscal 2007 and $1.7 million in fiscal 2006 and
decreased net loss from continuing operations by $6.2 million in fiscal 2007 and $3.7 million in fiscal 2006. As a result of this
reclassification, loss per share from continuing operations decreased by $0.12 in fiscal 2007 and $0.06 in fiscal 2006.
For fiscal 2008, revenue from continuing operations was $663.3 million, 8% higher than a year earlier. This increase primarily
reflected a 32% increase in Photowatt revenue on higher MWs produced and sold during fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007.
Fiscal 2008 ASG revenue was comparable to fiscal 2007 as lower Order Backlog entering fiscal 2008 compared to a year ago was
offset by higher Order Bookings throughout fiscal 2008 compared to a year ago. Changes in effective foreign exchange rates
reduced consolidated revenue by an estimated $32.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2008 compared to fiscal 2007.
Consolidated earnings from operations were $8.9 million in fiscal 2008, compared to a loss from operations of $39.3 million in
fiscal 2007. The improvement in earnings from operations reflects the gain on sale of the Company’s investment in shares of
Canadian Solar Inc. of $31.8 million and the gain on sale of non-solar grade silicon of $16.8 million. Changes in effective foreign
exchange rates reduced consolidated operating earnings for the year ended March 31, 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 by an
estimated $7.5 million.
Amortization expense decreased $0.6 million to $22.0 million during fiscal 2008 compared to the prior year. Higher amortization
in Photowatt France resulting from a capacity expansion was more than offset by lower amortization in ASG and other solar
divisions.
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SG&A expenses for fiscal 2008 increased $4.5 million to $103.9 million compared to the prior year period and included:
k
k
k

$18.8 million of Company-wide severance and restructuring costs;
$4.2 million related to a customer dispute in Photowatt; and
$2.5 million related to the change in the Board of Directors and senior management.

Fiscal 2007 SG&A included:
k

k
k

$11.2 million of costs related to the cancellation of the solar IPO, primarily consisting of U.S. and Canadian legal, accounting,
tax and auditing fees;
$7.0 million of Company-wide severance; and
$4.2 million of Photowatt corporate costs, incurred in preparation for the solar IPO.

Stock-based compensation cost increased $3.3 million in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007. Higher stock-based compensation
costs reflect accelerated vesting of options related to the resignations of certain officers of the Company of $1.2 million and
performance options that vested during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 of $1.3 million.
The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a stock
price performance threshold for a specified minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the performance-based
options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock
options in the period in which they vest.
As at March 31, 2008, the following performance-based stock options were un-vested:

Number of
options
outstanding

Grant date
value per
option

Weighted
average
remaining
vesting
period

$8.41

333,333

$2.19

3.0 years

57

$ 673

$8.50
$9.08

889,333
218,666

1.41
2.77

4.6 years
2.5 years

102
55

1,151
551

$10.41

333,334

2.19

4.4 years

40

690

$10.50
$11.08

889,333
218,667

1.41
2.77

5.5 years
3.8 years

87
38

1,166
568

$12.41

333,333

2.19

5.4 years

33

697

$13.08
$13.72

218,667
43,825

2.77
3.68

4.8 years
0.3 years

30
72

575
18

$15.09

43,825

3.68

1.3 years

50

62

$16.60
$19.87

43,825
43,200

3.68
4.42

2.0 years
0.8 years

40
51

81
38

Stock price
performance
threshold

Current
year
expense
$

Remaining
expense to
recognize

In fiscal 2008, the Company recorded $24.0 million in asset impairment and other charges related to the Precision Components
Group. These charges have been classified in discontinued operations. In fiscal 2007, the Company recorded asset impairment
charges on the various assets in the Photowatt Technologies segment related to the decision to halt Spheral Solar’s internal
development and to close down the module assembly facility in New Mexico.

Asset Impairment and Other Charges

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2008
$

Inventory

—

Fiscal 2007
$

4.0

Investment tax credits

—

5.3

Property, plant & equipment
Other

—
—

4.2
3.5

Total asset impairment and other charges

$
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—

$

17.0

The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and has determined
there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2008 (2007 — nil).
Decreased interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2008 reflected lower usage of the Company’s credit facilities compared
to fiscal 2007.
Net loss for fiscal 2008 was $23.4 million ($0.33 per share) compared to a net loss of $85.0 million ($1.42 per share) for the same
period last year.

Income Taxes and Investment Tax Credits
During fiscal 2007 the Company was no longer able to demonstrate the future utilization of its tax losses in Canada. Therefore,
fiscal 2007 provision for income taxes included a non-cash charge of $37.6 million related to a valuation allowance against the
Company’s Canadian future tax assets. These future tax assets primarily reflect income tax loss carry-forward balances generated
by Spheral Solar. During fiscal 2007, approximately $16.9 million of future income taxes assets were generated related to the
operating losses of Spheral Solar. This non-cash charge does not have any impact on the actual magnitude of the Company’s
income tax loss carry-forwards, which continue to be available to reduce future Canadian taxable income.
The Company records investment tax credits as a reduction of the cost of the related asset or expense when there is reasonable
assurance that such credits will be realized. During fiscal 2007, the Company was no longer able to demonstrate the future
realization of a significant portion of these investment tax credits. In fiscal 2007, the Company offset operating expenses with
$7.3 million ($1.7 million net of the aforementioned impairment charge) of net investment tax credits in its loss from operations,
primarily in the ASG segment.

Discontinued Operations
Precision Components Group: During fiscal 2008, the Company committed to a plan to sell the operating assets and liabilities of
the “PCG”. Accordingly, the results of operations and financial position of this business have been segregated and presented
separately as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The net loss from discontinued operations
incurred during fiscal 2008 was $35.6 million compared to a net loss of $6.2 million in fiscal 2007. The fiscal 2008 loss includes non
cash asset impairment and other charges of $24.0 million ($24.0 million before taxes) to write down the assets sold to their
estimated net realizable value.
ATS Berlin: During fiscal 2007, the Company sold the key operating assets and liabilities, including equipment, current assets,
trade accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of its Berlin, Germany coil winding business for net proceeds of
30.6 million consisting of cash of 30.3 million and an interest bearing note receivable of 30.3 million. Accordingly, the results of
operations and financial position of this business have been segregated and presented separately as discontinued operations in
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The net loss from discontinued operations incurred during fiscal 2007 was $2.2 million.
This loss includes a non-cash charge of $2.0 million ($2.2 million before taxes) during fiscal 2007 to write down the assets sold to
their net realizable value.
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on discontinued operations.

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007

Investments — increase (decrease)
$

Non-cash operating working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions
Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investment

(4.9)

$

(16.9)

21.8

45.0

3.8
(31.9)

1.5
—

Other long-term investments

29.1

5.2

Disposal of assets held for sale
Total net investments

(0.8)
17.1

(1.7)
33.1

$
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (cont’d)
In fiscal 2008, the Company’s investment in non-cash working capital decreased $4.9 million or 4% on an 8% increase in
revenues. The decrease in working capital reflected numerous factors, including: the timing of various expenditures and
collections on projects that are reflected in changes in working capital for contracts-in-progress; variations in accounts
receivable; accounts payable and inventories; and the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates. Management continues
to actively manage its investment in non-cash working capital relative to revenue volumes in order to improve return on
investment and expects that future cash investments in non-cash operating working capital will continue to fluctuate relative to
revenue volumes.
Property, plant and equipment expenditures totalled $21.8 million in fiscal 2008. Expenditures at Photowatt France totalling
$17.2 million were primarily used to increase Photowatt France’s ingot manufacturing capacity. Total ASG property, plant and
equipment expenditures of $3.1 million in fiscal 2008 were primarily for production and information technology equipment.
During fiscal 2008, the Company sold its portfolio investment in Canadian Solar Inc., a publicly traded company on the NASDAQ
exchange, for cash proceeds of $31.9 million and recognized a gain of $31.8 million.
During fiscal 2008, the Company acquired an additional 6% ownership in one of its subsidiaries in the Photowatt Technologies’
segment for cash consideration of $3.8 million. This resulted in an increase in the Company’s goodwill of $2.0 million and a
decrease in the non-controlling interest in this subsidiary of $1.8 million. The Company now owns 100% of this subsidiary. See
Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further acquisition-related activity.
The Company’s fiscal 2008 expenditures in other long-term investments primarily represent silicon deposits made with suppliers
for the future delivery of silicon for Photowatt France. The deposits represent advance payments which will be applied against
the price of future product received.
All of the Company’s investments involve risks and require that the Company make judgments and estimates regarding the
likelihood of recovery of the respective costs. In the event management determines that any of the Company’s investments have
become permanently impaired or recovery is no longer reasonably assured, the value of the investment would be written down
to its estimated net realizable value as a charge against earnings. Due to the magnitude of certain investments, such write downs
could be material.

LIQUIDITY, CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Cash, Leverage and Cash Flow from Operations

(in millions of dollars, except ratios)

Fiscal 2008
Year-end cash and short-term investments
Year-end debt-to-equity ratio

$

Cash flow (used in) provided by operations

$

56.8
0.1:1
(6.2)

Fiscal 2007
$
$

25.6
0.2:1
(7.5)

Fiscal 2006
$

27.9
0.1:1

$

27.1

During the year ended March 31, 2008, the agreement governing the Company’s primary operating credit facility (the “Credit
Agreement”) was amended resulting in the authorized operating credit facility being reduced from $130 million to $80 million.
The amended operating credit facility, which was secured by a general security agreement, was extended until June 2008. The
amended operating credit facility was subject to a current ratio test and a debt leverage test. Under the terms of the Credit
Agreement, the Company was restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The Credit Agreement
also restricted the disposition of certain assets with an agreement to reduce available credit by an amount equal to a portion of
the net proceeds received by the Company from certain material asset sales, if any. The Company was in compliance with these
covenants and restrictions as at March 31, 2008.
Effective June 2008, the Company established a new long-term primary credit facility (“New Credit Agreement”) with total credit
facilities of up to $85 million, comprised of an operating credit facility of $40 million which, after the Company has met certain
conditions, shall increase by $5 million monthly increments up to $65 million, and a letter of credit facility of up to $20 million for
certain purposes. The operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds
advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The New Credit Agreement, which is
secured by security on the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares
and guarantees from certain of the Company’s non-North American legal entities, is repayable in full on October 31, 2009.
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The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letter of credit for certain purposes
and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The interest rates applicable
to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain financial ratios. For prime rate advances and base rate advances,
the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%.
For bankers’ acceptances and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively,
plus 2.25% to 3.25%.
Under the New Credit Agreement, the Company shall pay a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at a rate of 0.5% per annum.
The New Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test, and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the terms
of the New Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The
New Credit Agreement also restricts the payment of dividends and the disposition of certain assets.
In fiscal 2008, the Company completed a rights offering, raising gross proceeds of $110.2 million (net proceeds of $102.5 million).
In total ATS received subscriptions of 16,011,247 common shares. Under the Additional Subscription Privilege, 1,678,903 shares
were purchased. A portion of the net proceeds of the rights offering are being used to further expand the manufacturing
capacity and to reduce manufacturing costs of Photowatt France. The remaining proceeds were primarily used during the year to
significantly reduce amounts drawn on the Company’s existing operating credit facility.
The Company’s future cash flow depends on a number of factors including operating earnings, ongoing working capital
requirements, the level and timing of new business and capital expenditures and acquisitions that the Company may make.
Automation systems contracts can have a significant impact on the Company’s working capital requirements due to the
underlying nature of the business. Cash flow from an automation systems contract is determined by the progress billing schedule
negotiated with the customer and the achievement by the Company of specified progress-billing milestones. These factors vary
from contract to contract, and may result in significant changes in cash requirements from quarter to quarter. Working capital
requirements in Photowatt also fluctuate due to changes in revenue, negotiated contract terms and inventory levels. Due to the
market shortage of silicon supply and the nature of market supply agreements the terms of those agreements can be onerous on
silicon buyers. Photowatt has made considerable investments in silicon deliveries and will be required to make further payments
against those deliveries as they come due. ASG and Photowatt also continue to experience demand for extended payment terms
by customers.
Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the Company’s bank indebtedness and repayment obligations at
March 31, 2008. The Company’s significant commitments, including minimum lease payments under operating leases, are
described in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. There are no other significant off-balance sheet arrangements
that management believes will have a material effect on the results of operations or liquidity.

Contractual Obligations

(in millions of dollars)

Total
Long-term debt
Operating leases

$

Purchase obligations

$

—
5.4

1-3 years
$

—
8.0

4-5 years
$

—
2.1

Beyond
5 years
$

—
0.9

635.5

99.4

124.3

123.0

288.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

—

—

$ 652.1

$ 104.9

$ 132.4

$ 125.1

$ 289.7

Other obligations
Total

—
16.4

Less than
1 year

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of the aforementioned silicon supply commitments (see “Photowatt
Technologies Overview of Fiscal 2008”), other materials purchase commitments, various operating lease financing arrangements
related primarily to facilities and equipment and derivative financial instruments which have been entered into in the normal
course of business.
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its functional currency of the
Canadian dollar. The Company’s Canadian operations generate significant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily US
dollars, which exceed the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage a
portion of this net foreign currency exposure, the Company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts. The timing
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and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on existing customer contracts on hand or
anticipated, anticipated shipment volumes, current conditions in the Company’s markets and the Company’s past experience. In
addition, from time to time, the Company enters forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk
arising from certain inter-company loans and net investments in certain self-sustaining subsidiaries.
The Company does not use hedging to speculate, but rather as a risk management tool.
The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to default
on their contractual obligations to the Company. The Company minimizes this risk by limiting counterparties to major financial
institutions and monitoring their creditworthiness. The Company’s credit exposure to forward contracts is the current
replacement value of contracts that are in a gain position.
For further information related to the Company’s use of derivative financial instruments refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
As of June 13, 2008, the Company had 77,277,155 common shares and 6,562,649 stock options to acquire common shares of the
Company outstanding.

Impact of Foreign Exchange
A decline in the value of US currency relative to the Canadian dollar had a negative impact on the Company’s revenue, operating
earnings and net earnings in fiscal 2008. ATS continues to follow a transaction hedging program to help mitigate the impact of
short-term foreign currency movements, primarily in its Canadian operations which often transact business in U.S. dollars. This
hedging activity consists primarily of forward exchange contracts for the sale of U.S. dollars. Purchasing third-party goods and
services in U.S. dollars by Canadian operations also acts as a partial offset to U.S. dollar exposure. Management estimates that its
forward foreign exchange contract hedging program is primarily effective for movements in currency rates within a four- to sixmonth period. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the financial instruments outstanding at
March 31, 2008.
Currency
Year Ended

Year-end actual exchange
rates in CDN$

Period average exchange
rates in CDN$

March 31, 2008

March 31, 2007

% change

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007

% change

U.S. dollar
Euro

1.0215
1.6046

1.1546
1.5418

(11.5%)
4.1%

1.0317
1.4604

1.1381
1.4621

(9.3%)
(0.1%)

Singapore dollar

0.7372

0.7598

(3.0%)

0.6987

0.7280

(4.0%)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Contracts In Progress and Revenue Recognition for ASG:
The nature of ASG contracts requires the use of estimates to quote new business and most automation systems are typically sold
on a fixed-price basis. As described in Note 1(d) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, revenue on automation systems and
other long-term contracts is recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which requires
management to exercise significant judgment in estimating the future costs of completing individual contracts over the life
of the contract. If the actual costs incurred by the Company to complete a contract are significantly higher than estimated, the
Company’s earnings may be negatively affected. The use of estimates involves risks, since the work to be performed involves
varying degrees of technical uncertainty, including possible development work to meet the customer’s specification, the extent
of which is sometimes not determinable until after the project has been awarded. In the event the Company is unable to meet
the defined performance specification for a contracted automation system, it may need to redesign and rebuild all or a portion
of the system at its expense without further increase in the selling price. Certain contracts may have provisions that reduce the
selling price if the Company fails to deliver or complete the contract by specified dates. These provisions may expose the
Company to contingent liabilities.
ASG contracts may be terminated by customers in the event of a default by the Company or for the convenience of the customer.
In the event of a termination for convenience, the Company must typically negotiate a settlement reflective of the progress
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achieved on the contract and/or the costs incurred to the termination date. If a contract is cancelled, Order Backlog is reduced
and production utilization may be negatively impacted.
Complete provision, which can be significant, is made for losses on such contracts when such losses first become known. Revisions
in estimates of costs and profits on contracts, which can also be significant, are recorded in the accounting period in which the
relevant facts impacting the estimates become known.
REM revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer,
providing collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue Recognition for Photowatt Technologies:
As described in Note 1(d) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Photowatt Technologies revenue is generally recognized
when earned, which is normally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the customer, providing collection is reasonably
assured. While the Company may enter into long-term sales contracts, many sales are made on the basis of individual orders, as is
customary in the industry. This can increase revenue volatility because shipment volumes may vary depending on customer
demand.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill:
The Company assesses the impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and goodwill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
As described in Note 1(g) and Note 1(i) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, long-lived assets such as property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Judgment is involved in determining expected future cash flows that will be generated by
the long-lived assets. During the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company determined that the carrying value of certain longlived assets in respect of Spheral Solar was in excess of its associated estimated undiscounted future cash flows and plant and
equipment was written down by $4.2 million. During the year ended March 31, 2008, there was no write down of intangible
assets (nil in fiscal 2007).
In connection with business acquisitions completed by the Company, management identifies and estimates the fair value of the
net assets acquired, including certain identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill and liabilities assumed in the
acquisitions. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired is assigned to
goodwill. As described in Note 1(g) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment on an
annual basis.

Valuation of Future Income Tax Assets and Investment Tax Credits:
As described in Note 1(k) and Note 1(l) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s future income tax asset balance
represents temporary differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities including research and
development costs and incentives, property, plant and equipment, asset impairment charges not yet deductible and operating
loss carry-forwards, net of valuation allowances. The Company considers both positive evidence and negative evidence to
determine whether, based upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in
considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce future
income tax assets and investment tax credits to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Should the Company
determine that it is more likely than not that it will not be able to realize all or part of its future income tax assets in future fiscal
periods, the valuation allowance would be increased, resulting in a decrease to net income in the reporting periods when such
determinations are made.
Investment tax credits and government assistance are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense
when there is reasonable assurance that such credits or assistance will be realized.
During fiscal 2007, the provision for income taxes includes a non-cash charge of $37.6 million related to a valuation allowance
against the Company’s Canadian future tax assets. This non-cash charge does not have any impact on the actual magnitude of
the Company’s income tax loss carry-forwards which continue to be available to reduce future Canadian taxable income.
In addition, during fiscal 2008, a provision was recorded against the Company’s investment tax credits in the amount of
$10.2 million ($5.3 million in fiscal 2007).
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the basis of accounting and the Company’s significant accounting
policies.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Sections
which established the accounting and reporting standards for financial instruments and hedging activities. These sections
require the initial recognition of financial instruments at fair value on the balance sheet. As required by these standards, the
comparative Consolidated Financial Statements have not been restated except for the reclassification of the cumulative
translation adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for further details including the impact of adopting these standards.
The CICA has also issued new Handbook Sections that will become effective for the Company on April 1, 2008 — see Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting these future accounting
standards.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Certain of the directors of the Company are related to Goodwood Inc. and Mason Capital Management, LLC. The Company has
reimbursed $0.5 million of proxy circular-related costs incurred in connection with the election of the new Board of Directors.
Mr. Laborde, the CEO of Photowatt, is also the President of PV Alliance, in which Photowatt has a 40% investment interest. In
fiscal 2008, Photowatt invested $0.9 million (30.6 million) in the PV Alliance.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting for the Company.
Management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls or internal controls over
financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud or will be effective under all potential future conditions. A
control system is subject to inherent limitations and, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the control systems objectives will be met.

Disclosure controls and procedures:
An evaluation of the design of and operating effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures was conducted
as of March 31, 2008 under the supervision of the CEO and CFO as required by CSA Multilateral Instrument 52-109, Certification
of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. The evaluation included documentation, review, enquiries and other
procedures considered appropriate in the circumstances. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that,
other than as discussed below under “Internal controls over financial reporting,” the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information relating to the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries that is required to be disclosed in reports filed under provincial and territorial securities legislation is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported to senior management, including the CEO and the CFO, so that appropriate decisions can
be made by them regarding required disclosure within the time periods specified in the provincial and territorial securities
legislation.

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting:
The CEO and CFO have, using the framework and criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, evaluated the design of the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting and concluded that, as of March 31, 2008, weaknesses exist at Photowatt France in the design of
such controls that could affect the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
Photowatt France has weaknesses in its internal controls as a result of a lack of sufficient finance personnel in France with an
appropriate level of accounting and internal controls knowledge, experience and training. This situation has the potential to
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result in material misstatements in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and should be considered a weakness in
disclosure controls and procedures. In fiscal 2008 management implemented a number of new control and monitoring activities
and, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, appointed qualified and experienced individuals as Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Accountant of Photowatt France. Management also engaged external advisors, in addition to the assignment of internal
resources, to assist the Company in undertaking additional review procedures at this subsidiary with the objective of mitigating
the risk of undetected material errors in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and disclosures as a result of this risk.
The Company is currently assessing the management team to ensure that the qualifications and experience are sufficient to
effectively manage the business. Pending the completion of these activities, the Company intends to continue to undertake
additional review procedures to mitigate the risk of undetected material errors in the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and disclosures.
One area of weakness previously identified concerned a lack of change management, security and access controls to ensure that
all transactions are properly authorized and recorded. In fiscal 2008 management implemented policies, procedures and
monitoring activities such that change management, security and access controls are no longer considered to have the potential
to result in material misstatements in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

OTHER MAJOR CONSIDERATIONS AND RISK FACTORS
Any investment in ATS will be subject to risks inherent to ATS’s business. The following risk factors are discussed in the Company’s
Annual Information Form, which may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
k
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Strategy execution risks;
Automation systems pricing and revenue mix risks;
Competition risk;
First-time assignment and production risks;
Automotive market risk;
Cyclicality;
Foreign exchange risk;
International business risks;
Pricing, quality, delivery and volume risk;
Product failure risk;
Risks associated with the solar market;
Profitability of Photowatt Technologies and reliance on Photowatt France’s manufacturing facility;
Customer risks;
Availability of raw materials and other manufacturing inputs;
Reliance of Photowatt Technologies on government grants;
New product market acceptance, obsolescence, and commercialization risk;
Government subsidies for solar products and regulation of utility sector;
Liquidity and access to capital markets;
Expansion risks;
Availability of human resources and dependence on key personnel;
Intellectual property protection risks;
Risk of infringement of third parties’ intellectual property rights;
Internal controls;
Income and other taxes and uncertain tax liabilities;
Variations in quarterly results;
Share price volatility;
Litigation;
Legislative compliance;
Dependence on performance of subsidiaries;

Note to Readers: Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report and management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions, and results of operations of ATS for the
year ended March 31, 2008 (the “MD&A”) contains certain statements that constitute forward-looking information within the
meaning of applicable securities laws (“forward-looking statements”). Such forward-looking statements involve known and
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unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of ATS, or
developments in ATS’s business or in its industry, to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance, achievements or
developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include all disclosure
regarding possible events, conditions or results of operations that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions
and courses of action. Forward-looking statements may also include, without limitation, any statement relating to future events,
conditions or circumstances. ATS cautions you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the date they are made. Forward-looking statements relate to, among other things: plan to sell PCG; timeline in
regards to obtaining acceptable performance; an investment in Photowatt France intended to balance production, increase
output and reduce manufacturing costs; evaluation of strategic relationships with the goal of improving the market position of
Photowatt France and increasing ATS shareholder value; Lab-Fab being designed to increase cell efficiency by up to 2%; the focus
on stabilizing the Company and improving operating performance in the first year of the Company’s three year plan; as part of a
value creation strategy, future changes within leadership, management of ASG programs with objective of improving core
operations, change in approach to ASG market, shaping of ASG divisions, positioning of Photowatt France to become a
standalone company, improving cell efficiency, yield and profitability at Photowatt France, securing of silicon feedstock, creating
a foundation for a downstream relationship for Photowatt, balancing of cash flows and improvement of working capital
efficiency, and monetization of non-core assets; payback period on costs of operational improvements; future focus on growth
and diversification of product offerings; belief that there is a significant ASG technology base that can be leveraged, belief that
ASG margin slippage can be reduced through program management; increasing the degree of ASG internal sub-contracting;
skills transfer within ASG; standardization of ASG designs; ASG improved supply chain initiative; intention to move toward
standard products within ASG; benefits of central bid review and approval; establishment of market discriminators within ASG;
strategic management of ASG customers; management belief in regards to ASG factory utilization; expected improvements in
ASG Asia, ASG Europe and ASG core operations, including improved profitability and cash flow; potential challenges to U.S. and
Canadian operations; continuing customer demand for ASG systems; objective of producing UMGSI products with cell
efficiencies exceeding 14%; identifying areas of cost reduction at Photowatt France; planned activities with respect to the
research phase of the PV Alliance and intended outcomes and Photowatt France’s investment and payback period for that
initiative; securing of silicon feedstock and customer contracts for Photowatt France; global electricity usage; long-term outlook
for solar energy; use of UMGSI at Photowatt France and impact on profitability; and management expectations with respect to
impact of fourth quarter 2008 activities and 2009 plans. The risks and uncertainties that may affect forward-looking statements
include, among others; general market performance including capital market conditions; economic market conditions; impact
of factors such as health of automotive suppliers, financial failure of customers, increased pricing pressure and possible margin
compression; foreign currency and exchange risk; the effect of the strength of the Canadian dollar; performance of the market
sectors that ATS serves; successful implementation of cost improvement initiatives at Photowatt France and achievement of
intended outcomes; ability to successfully identify and secure strategic relationships for Photowatt France that will generate
desired results; potential inability of Lab-Fab to achieve improvements in cell efficiency, including problems with the technology
or commercialization thereof; inability to secure the required management depth and talent; inability to effectively
management ASG programs due to issues with quoting or proper structure and controls; that ASG customers will not be
receptive to a new approach to that market; that external market forces or internal structural issues inhibit shaping of divisions;
slow-down in progress being made with the efficiency of UMGSI cells; that planned factory improvements at Photowatt France
are unsuccessful or delayed; reversal of current silicon supply arrangements and negotiation of new supply arrangements;
political, labour or supplier disruptions in manufacturing and supply of silicon; inability to finalize strategic partnerships or
alliances to provide for silicon supply; ability to obtain customer and supplier payment terms that facilitate balanced cash flows;
the ability of ATS to exit the remaining PCG operations on terms satisfactory to ATS; inability to achieve expected payback period
on operational improvements due to unexpected additional costs; customer resistance to ASG productized technology or other
unanticipated issues with identifying and protecting ASG technology; ASG program challenges associated with executing
programs from multiple ASG locations; ability to negotiate beneficial agreements with suppliers; ability to shift ASG business
from a “customized” focus to one that accommodates and promotes standardized products; ASG competitive pressures; a
decrease in order bookings and backlog; delays in the stabilization of ASG European and Asian operations; that some or all of the
trends towards automation that ATS believes are attractive dissipate or do not result in increased demand for automation; risks
associated with operating and servicing customers in a foreign country including integration risks; that multinational companies
withdraw from global manufacturing for business, political, economic or other reasons; Photowatt France’s ability to improve
efficiencies of its solar modules produced using lower grade polysilicon or refined metallurgical silicon either alone or through
partnerships; ability to finalize beneficial agreements needed to effectively implement Lab-Fab and ability to properly manage
the Lab-Fab relationship; reluctance of solar customers to commit to longer term supply arrangements; the availability of
government subsidies for solar products, extent of market demand for solar products; reductions in the average selling price of
solar products; the development of superior or alternative technologies to those developed by ATS; the success of competitors

34
ATS Annual Report 2008

with greater capital and resources in exploiting their technology; inability of Photowatt France or PV Alliance to obtain grants in
the future to fund research and development; market risk for developing technologies; economic viability of use of metallurgical
silicon; risks relating to legal proceedings to which ATS is party; exposure to product liability claims of Photowatt Technologies;
risks associated with compliance with existing and new legislation; risks associated with greater than anticipated tax liabilities or
expenses; and other risks detailed from time to time in ATS’s filings with Canadian provincial securities regulators. Forwardlooking statements are based on management’s current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions, and ATS does not
undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should assumptions related to these plans, estimates,
projections, beliefs and opinions change.

June 18, 2008
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The preparation and presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of management. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The consolidated financial statements and other information in this Annual Report include amounts
that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented
elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements, except as described further
in the “Non-GAAP Measures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as further described in the “Controls and Procedures — Internal control over
financial reporting” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management’s responsibilities for financial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is ultimately
responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility
principally through its Audit and Finance Committee (the “Committee”).
The Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets periodically
with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters
and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the
consolidated financial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee has reported its findings to the Board which
has approved the consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for issuance to shareholders. The
Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval of shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the
external auditors.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of shareholders by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors have full and free access to
management and the Committee.

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer

Maria Perrella
Chief Financial Officer

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2008 and March 31,
2007 and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income and cash flows for
the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Waterloo, Canada
June 17, 2008

36
ATS Annual Report 2008

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands of dollars)

As at March 31

2008

2007

ASSETS
Current assets
$

Cash and short-term investments
Accounts receivable (note 4)

56,785
126,052

$

25,568
131,410

Investment tax credits (notes 15 and 18)

13,712

13,712

Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress (note 5)

79,478

73,755

Inventories (notes 5 and 18)
Future income taxes (note 15)

93,751
1,604

74,804
—

Deposits and prepaid assets (note 6)

15,794

10,861

12,156
399,332

—
330,110

186,054

221,718

35,342
225

35,657
352

Assets held for sale (note 2)
Property, plant and equipment (notes 7 and 18)
Goodwill (note 3)
Intangible assets (note 8)
Future income taxes (note 15)
Deferred development costs (note 9)
Assets held for sale (note 2)
Portfolio investments (note 4)
Other assets (note 10)
$

2,117

179

1,940
14,190

2,414
—

4,927

4,728

33,888
678,015

$

28,754

$

5,907
601,065

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness (note 11)

$

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4)
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress (note 5)
Future income taxes (note 15)

37,204

149,169

122,587

26,101
15,343

23,186
14,395

—

447

9,223
228,590

—
197,819

Long-term debt (note 11)

—

39,025

Future income taxes (note 15)

—

75

235
—

877
1,890

432,825
6,370

327,560
3,193

Current portion of long-term debt (note 11)
Current liabilities associated with assets held for sale (note 2)

Other long-term liabilities (note 4)
Non-controlling interest (note 3)
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 12)
Contributed surplus

(6,675)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 13)

(9,422)

16,670
449,190

Retained earnings
$
Commitments (note 16)
On behalf of the Board:

Neil D. Arnold

Neale X. Trangucci

Director

Director

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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678,015

40,048
361,379
$

601,065

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended March 31

2008

Revenue

$

663,269

2007
$

614,538

Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenue
Amortization

572,683
22,019

513,838
22,631

Selling, general and administrative

103,930

99,448

Stock-based compensation (note 14)
Impairment of long-lived assets (note 18)

4,267
—

963
16,991

Gain on sale of portfolio investments (note 4)

(31,779)

Gain on sale of silicon
Earnings (loss) from operations

(16,764)
8,913

—
—
(39,333)

Other expenses (income)
Interest on long-term debt

1,551

Interest income on cash and short-term investments

3,154

(921)
630

(2,120)
1,034

8,283
(3,929)

(40,367)
36,201

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes and non-controlling interest
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (note 15)

54

Non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (note 2)

131

12,158
(35,581)

Net loss

$

Earnings (loss) per share (note 20)
Basic and diluted — from continuing operations

$

(23,423)
0.17

(76,699)
(8,316)
$

(85,015)

$

(1.28)

$

(1.42)

(0.50)

Basic and diluted — from discontinued operations
$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(0.33)

(0.14)

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income

(in thousands of dollars)

Year ended March 31, 2008

Balance, beginning of year
Transitional adjustment on adoption of new

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$ 40,048

$361,379

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

$327,560

$3,193

$ (9,422)
20,534

45

20,579

327,560

3,193

11,112

40,093

381,958

(23,423)

(23,423)

accounting standards (note 1)
Comprehensive loss
Net loss
Currency translation adjustment (note 13)
Net unrealized loss on available for-sale
financial assets (net of income taxes of $nil)

2,643

2,643

(2,489)

(2,489)

(18,420)

(18,420)

5,853

5,853

(5,374)

(5,374)

Amount transferred to income on available forsale financial assets (net of income taxes of
$2,415)
Net unrealized gain on derivative financial
instruments designated as cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $nil)
Amount transferred to net earnings (loss) for
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $nil)
Total comprehensive loss
Stock-based compensation (note 14)
Exercise of stock options
Shares issued during the period for cash on rights
offering, net (note 19)
Balance, end of the year

(41,210)
3,986

3,986
2,743

(809)

1,934

102,522

102,522

$432,825

$6,370

$ (6,675)

$ 16,670

$449,190

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

$125,063

$430,921

Year Ended March 31, 2007

Balance, beginning of year

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

$326,840

$2,035

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$(23,017)

Net loss
Currency translation adjustment
Issuance of common shares

(85,015)
13,595

Balance, end of year

13,595
720

720

Stock-based compensation

1,158
$327,560

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$3,193

(85,015)

1,158
$ (9,422)

$ 40,048

$361,379

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands of dollars)

Years ended March 31

2008

2007

Operating activities:
Net loss

$

Items not involving cash
Amortization
Future taxes
Other items not involving cash
Stock-based compensation

(23,423)

$

22,019

22,631

(2,669)

20,297

1,329
4,267

10,040
963

(31,779)

Gain on disposal of portfolio investment (note 4)

—

24,031
—

Non-cash items related to discontinued operations (note 2)
Write down of assets to net realizable value (note 18)
Cash flow from operations
Change in non-cash operating working capital
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

(85,015)

6,626
16,991

(6,225)

(7,467)

4,877

16,892

(1,348)

9,425

(21,844)
(3,836)

(44,980)
(1,475)

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of subsidiary (note 3)

31,932

Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investment (note 4)

—

Investments and other
Proceeds from disposal of assets

(29,119)
795

(5,171)
1,702

Cash flows used in investing activities

(22,072)

(49,924)

Financing activities:
Bank indebtedness

(19,660)

35,392

(7,688)

—

60,000
(87,157)

—
—

Share issue costs (note 19)
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Issuance of common shares of subsidiary
Issuance of common shares (note 19)
Cash flows provided by financing activities

—

804

112,144
57,639

720
36,916

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and short-term investments

(3,002)

1,230

Increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments
Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year

31,217
25,568

(2,353)
27,921

Cash and short-term investments, end of year

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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56,785

$

25,568

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and subsidiary companies (collectively “the Company”) operate in two segments;
Automation Systems and Photowatt Technologies. The Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered turn-key
automated manufacturing and test systems. The Photowatt Technologies segment is a high-volume manufacturer of
photovoltaic products. As described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has reported its
Precision Components Group, which was held for sale as of March 31, 2008, in discontinued operations.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) on a basis consistent with prior periods. Amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise
indicated. Certain figures for the previous year have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s consolidated financial
statement presentation and to reflect discontinued operations.
(a) Basis of consolidation: These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Non-controlling interest in earnings of subsidiaries has
been calculated and included in the financial statements for subsidiaries not 100% owned by the Company. The proportionate
consolidation method is used to account for investments in joint ventures in which the Company exercises joint control, whereby
the Company’s pro rata share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is consolidated.
(b) Foreign currency translation: The assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian
dollars at year-end exchange rates and the resulting unrealized exchange gains or losses are included as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. The statements of operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Other monetary assets and liabilities, including long-term monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in foreign
currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at year-end exchange rates, and transactions included in earnings are translated
at rates prevailing during the year. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are
included in the consolidated statements of operations with the exception of unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses on
long-term debt denominated in foreign currencies that is designated as a hedge of the net investment in a self-sustaining
foreign subsidiary. These exchange gains or losses are included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.
(c) Cash and short-term investments: Cash and short-term investments consist of cash and highly liquid money market
instruments, typically with original maturities of three months or less.
(d) Contract revenue and inventories: Contract revenue in the Automation Systems segment is recognized using the percentage
of completion method. The degree of completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs that are not
representative of progress to completion, as a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract. Incentive awards,
claims or penalty provisions are recognized when such amounts are likely to occur and can reasonably be estimated. Complete
provision is made for losses on contracts in progress when such losses first become known. Revisions in cost and profit estimates,
which can be significant, are reflected in the accounting period in which the relevant facts become known.
Revenue in the Photowatt Technologies segment and certain repetitive equipment manufacturing contracts within the
Automation Systems segment is primarily recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer
of title to the customer, providing collection is reasonably assured. Revenue on certain long-term contracts in the Photowatt
Technologies segment is recognized using the percentage of completion method consistent with the Automation Systems
segment accounting policy.
Provisions for warranty claims and other allowances are made based on contract terms and prior experience.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost on a first-in, first-out basis and net realizable value.
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
(e) Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is computed using the
following methods and annual rates:
Asset
Buildings
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture

Basis

Rate

Declining-balance
Straight-line

4%
3%-6%

Straight-line

10%-30%

Declining-balance

20%-30%

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the related leases or their remaining useful life on a
straight-line basis.
(f) Portfolio investments: Portfolio investments of publicly-traded securities are initially recorded at cost and subsequently
measured at fair value with changes being recorded through other comprehensive income. Portfolio investments in securities
without a quoted market price in an active market are initially recorded at cost and are reduced to estimated market values if
there is other than a temporary decline in the value of the investment.
(g) Goodwill and other intangible assets: Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired enterprise over the net of the
amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, less any subsequent impairment writedown. Goodwill is subject to an impairment test on at least an annual basis or upon the occurrence of certain events or
circumstances which indicate that the asset might be impaired.
Other intangible assets, which are patents and licenses on technologies, are recorded at cost and amortized over their estimated
economic life, ranging from 3 to 20 years, on a straight-line basis.
(h) Pre-production costs: Pre-production costs related to new contracts are deferred and amortized over the life of the related
contract on a units-of-production basis.
(i) Impairment of long-lived assets: Long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the total
of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized for
the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the asset.
(j) Research and development costs: Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs which meet Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles criteria are deferred and amortized over the period in which the Company expects to benefit
from the resulting product or process. Research and development costs which are expensed by the Company are charged to cost
of revenue as a substantial portion of the expenses relate to customer contracts. Subject to meeting the Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles criteria, the Company capitalizes both direct and indirect costs with respect to ventures which are
in the development stage.
Deferred development costs are reviewed annually for recoverability. When the criteria that previously justified the deferral of
costs are no longer met, the unamortized balance is written off as a charge to earnings in that period. When the criteria for
deferral continue to be met, but the amount of deferred development costs that can reasonably be regarded as assured through
recovery of related future revenues less relevant costs is exceeded by the unamortized balance of such costs, the excess is written
off as a charge to earnings in that period.
(k) Investment tax credits and government assistance: Investment tax credits (“ITC”) and government assistance are accounted
for as a reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense when there is reasonable assurance that such credits or assistance will
be realized.
(l) Income taxes: The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of
accounting for income taxes, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial
reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
Future tax assets are recognized when the Company is satisfied that it will be more likely than not that the benefit will be utilized
to offset future income taxes payable in the foreseeable future. The Company assesses, on an ongoing basis, the degree of
certainty regarding the realization of future tax assets and whether a valuation allowance is required.
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
(m) Stock-based compensation plans: For all stock option awards granted on or after April 1, 2003, the Company expenses
employee stock-based compensation using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation.
For all option awards granted before April 1, 2003, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation provided to its
employees and directors as capital transactions. Pro forma disclosures present net earnings and earnings per share had the
compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan been determined and recorded based on the fair value of options
awarded for the year ended March 31, 2003. No compensation expense is recorded in the consolidated financial statements for
stock options awarded and outstanding prior to April 1, 2003.
The fair value of time vesting based stock options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The fair value of performance-based stock options is estimated at the grant date using a binomial option-pricing model. These
models require the input of a number of assumptions, including expected dividend yields, expected stock price volatility,
expected time until exercise and risk-free interest rates. Although the assumptions used reflect management’s best estimates,
they involve inherent uncertainties based on market conditions generally outside of the control of the Company. If other
assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be significantly impacted. As stock options are exercised, the
proceeds received on exercise, in addition to the portion of the contributed surplus balance related to those stock options, are
credited to share capital.
Compensation expense is recognized for the Company’s contributions and obligations under the Employee Share Purchase Plan,
the Deferred Stock Unit Plan, and the Stock Option Plan. Details regarding these plans are outlined in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
(n) Earnings per share: The calculation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares issued and
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method which includes the effect of the exercise of
dilutive elements.
(o) Disposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations: A long-lived asset that meets the conditions as held for sale is
measured at the lower of its carrying amount or its fair value less costs to sell. Such assets are not amortized while they are
classified as held for sale. The results of operations of a component of an entity that has been disposed of, or is classified as held
for sale, are reported in discontinued operations if the operations and cash flows of the component have been or will be
eliminated as a result of the disposal transaction, and the entity will not have a significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the component after the disposal transaction.
(p) Asset retirement obligation: Liabilities related to legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets are initially measured at fair value and subsequently adjusted for the passage of time and any changes in the underlying
cash flows. The asset retirement cost is capitalized to the related asset and amortized into earnings over time.
(q) Use of estimates: The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Significant estimates and assumptions are used when accounting for items such as impairment of long-lived assets, recoverability
of deferred development costs, fair value of reporting units and goodwill, fair value of assets held for sale, warranties, income
taxes, future tax assets, determination of estimated useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment,
impairment of portfolio investments, contracts in progress, inventory provisions, revenue recognition, contingent liabilities and
allowances for accounts receivable.
(r) Change in accounting policies: Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted the new Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Sections 1506 “Accounting Changes”, 1530 “Comprehensive Income”, 3251 “Equity”, 3855
“Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement”, 3861 “Financial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation” and
3865 “Hedges”. These CICA Handbook Sections establish the accounting and reporting standards for financial instruments and
hedging activities, and require the initial recognition of financial instruments at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet. As
provided under the standards, the comparative consolidated financial statements have not been restated, except for the
reclassification of the cumulative translation adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income.
In addition, effective March 31, 2008, the Company chose to adopt the new CICA Handbook Sections 3862 “Financial
Instruments — Disclosures”, 3863 “Financial Instruments — Presentation” and 1535 “Capital Disclosures”.
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
Comprehensive income and equity
CICA Handbook Section 1530 requires the presentation of comprehensive income and its components in a financial statement.
Comprehensive income is composed of the Company’s net income and other comprehensive income which includes unrealized
gains and losses on translating financial statements of self-sustaining foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the
effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments and changes in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets
measured at fair value. The Company discloses comprehensive income within its consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
and other comprehensive income.
Capital disclosures
CICA Handbook Section 1535 establishes standards for disclosing information about the Company’s capital and how it is
managed. The Company’s disclosure should include information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital
and disclose whether or not it has complied with any capital requirements to which it is subject and the consequences of noncompliance. See note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
Financial instruments
CICA Handbook Section 3855 establishes standards for recognizing and measuring financial instruments, including derivatives.
Under the new standard, all financial instruments are initially recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value except for
certain related party transactions. They are subsequently measured either at fair value or amortized cost depending on the
classification selected for the financial instrument. Financial assets are classified as either “held-for-trading”, “held-tomaturity”, “available-for-sale” or “loans and receivables” and financial liabilities are classified as either “held-for-trading”
or “other liabilities”. Financial assets and liabilities classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recorded in the consolidated statements of operations except for financial assets and liabilities designated as cash flow
hedges which are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as a component of other comprehensive income.
Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or loans and receivables and financial liabilities classified as other liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale financial assets that have a
quoted price in an active market are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other comprehensive income.
Such gains and losses are reclassified to earnings when the related financial asset is disposed of or when the decline in value is
considered to be other-than-temporary. Equity instruments classified as “available-for-sale” that do not have a quoted price in
an active market are subsequently measured at cost.
CICA Handbook Section 3862 modifies the disclosure requirements for CICA Handbook Section 3861, “Financial Instruments —
Disclosure and Presentation”, including required disclosure for the assessment of the significance of financial instruments for an
entity’s financial position and performance and of the extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is
exposed and how the Company manages those risks. CICA Handbook Section 3863 carries forward the presentation
requirements of CICA Handbook Section 3861. Certain information related to comparative years is not prescribed by these
standards and accordingly has not been presented. See note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:
k
k
k
k
k

Cash and short-term investments are classified as held-for-trading.
Accounts receivable and notes receivable included in other assets are classified as loans and receivables.
Long-term investments in equities included in portfolio investments are classified as available for-sale.
Bank indebtedness is classified as held-for-trading.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt and other long-term liabilities are classified as other liabilities.

The Company has elected to expense transaction costs related to financial instruments classified as other than held-for-trading.
The Company has elected to use trade date accounting for regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets.
Embedded derivatives
In addition to recognizing all stand-alone derivative financial instruments at fair value, CICA Handbook Section 3855 requires
embedded derivatives, which are components included in a non-derivative host contract that have features meeting the
definition of a derivative, to be accounted for separately when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
the host instrument and the combined contract is not recorded at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with subsequent changes recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company enters into certain nonfinancial instrument contracts which contain embedded foreign currency derivatives. Where the contract is not leveraged, does
not contain an option feature and is denominated in a currency that is commonly used in the economic environment where the
transaction takes place, the embedded derivative is not accounted for separately from the host contract. As provided under CICA
Handbook Section 3855, the Company elected April 1, 2003 as the transition date for embedded derivatives and only reviewed
contracts entered into or modified after that date.
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1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d):
Hedging
CICA Handbook Section 3865 specifies the criteria that must be met in order for hedge accounting to be applied and the
accounting for each of the permitted hedging strategies. If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge, changes in fair
value of the derivative and changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of the change
in fair value of the derivative are initially recorded in other comprehensive income and are reclassified to the consolidated
statements of operations when the hedged item is recognized. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when it is
determined that the derivative is not effective as a hedge, or the derivative is terminated or sold, or upon sale or early
termination of the hedged item. The Company has elected to apply hedge accounting for certain forward foreign exchange
contracts used to manage foreign currency exposure on anticipated revenue and firm commitments and has designated these as
cash flow hedges. The fair value of these derivatives is included in deposits and prepaid assets when in an asset position and in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities when in a liability position. Gains or losses arising from hedging activities are reported in
the same caption on the consolidated statements of operations as the hedged item.
The types of hedging relationships that qualify for hedge accounting have not changed under CICA Handbook Section 3865. The
nature of the items or transactions that the Company hedges and the Company’s hedging programs in relation to these items or
transactions are included in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Transition adjustment
The impact of adopting the new standards as at April 1, 2007 was as follows:
k

An increase in portfolio investments of $23,677 an increase of $21,109 in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”)
and an increase of $2,568 in future income tax liability related to recording the fair value of portfolio assets designated as
available-for-sale.

k

An increase in deposits and prepaid assets of $251 an increase of $781 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, a decrease
of $575 in AOCI and an increase in retained earnings of $45 related to recording the fair value of cash flow hedges where
hedge accounting is used.

k

$9,422 of net foreign currency losses that were previously presented as a separate item in shareholders’ equity have been
reclassified to AOCI.

(s) Future accounting standards: The CICA has issued the following new Handbook Sections:
k

CICA Handbook Section 3031, “Inventories”

k

CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”

CICA Handbook Section 3031 provides more guidance on the measurement and disclosure requirements for inventories than the
previous CICA Handbook Section 3030. This standard is effective for interim and annual financial statements for the Company’s
reporting period beginning on April 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this new section.
CICA Handbook Section 3064 establishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill
and intangible assets subsequent to initial recognition and provides guidance on the recognition and measurement of internally
developed intangible assets. This standard is effective for interim and annual financial statements for the Company’s reporting
period beginning on April 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this new section.
The CICA’s Accounting Standards Board has also announced that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will adopt
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective
January 1, 2011. IFRS will require increased financial statement disclosures. Although IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to
Canadian GAAP, differences in accounting policies will need to be addressed. The Company is currently assessing the impact of
this announcement on its consolidated financial statements.

2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE:
(i) During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company committed to a plan to sell the key operating assets and liabilities,
including equipment, current assets excluding cash, trade accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of its Precision
Components Group. Accordingly, the results of operations and financial position of the Precision Components Group have been
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2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (cont’d):
segregated and presented separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements. The results of the
discontinued operations were as follows:
Years ended March 31

2008

Revenue
Loss from operating activities

$
$

68,565
(35,581)

$

(35,581)

$
$

85,538
(6,158)

$

(6,158)

—

Write-down to reduce assets sold to net realizable value, net of tax of $nil
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

2007

—

The loss from discontinued operations includes non-cash asset impairment charges of $19,109 during 2008 ($19,109 before taxes)
and valuation allowances of $4,191 against inventories and $700 against accounts receivable to write down the assets to their
estimated fair market value.
(ii) During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company committed to a plan to sell land and one of two buildings related to its
Ohio division within its Automation Systems segment. The land and building are ready for sale and management expects to sell
them within one year. Accordingly, these assets have been classified as held for sale.
(iii) During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company committed to a plan to sell land and building related to its Spheral Solar
development project which was halted in early fiscal 2008. Subsequent to the year end, the Company completed the sale of the
land and building for net proceeds of $16,000. Accordingly, these assets have been classified as held for sale.
(iv) During the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company sold the key operating assets and liabilities, including equipment,
current assets, trade accounts payable and certain other assets and liabilities of its Berlin, Germany coil winding business, within
its Automation Systems segment, for net proceeds of 600 Euro consisting of cash of 300 Euro and an interest bearing note
receivable of 300 Euro. Accordingly, the results of operations and financial position of the Berlin coil winding business have been
segregated and presented separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements. The results of the
discontinued operations were as follows:
Years ended March 31

2008

2007

Revenue

$

—

$

Loss from operating activities

$

—

$

(180)

$

—
—

$

(1,978)
(2,158)

Write-down to reduce assets sold to net realizable value, net of tax of $ 195
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

1,737

The loss from discontinued operations includes a non-cash charge of $1,978 ($2,173 before taxes) during 2007 to write down the
assets sold to their net realizable value.
During the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company recorded an intangible assets impairment charge in conjunction with the
discontinued operation of $573 net of accumulated amortization.

3. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES:
(i)

During the year ended March 31, 2008, ATS acquired an additional 6% ownership in one of its subsidiaries in the Photowatt
Technologies segment for cash consideration of $3,836. This resulted in an increase in the Company’s goodwill in this
subsidiary of $1,983 and a decrease in the non-controlling interest in this subsidiary of $1,853.

(ii)

During the year ended March 31, 2007, ATS acquired an additional 2% ownership in one of its subsidiaries in the Photowatt
Technologies segment for cash consideration of $1,475. This resulted in an increase in the Company’s goodwill in this
subsidiary of $1,010 and a decrease in the non-controlling interest in this subsidiary of $465.

(iii) During the year ended March 31, 2007, options to purchase common shares of a subsidiary in the Photowatt Technologies
segment were exercised by a non-controlling shareholder for cash consideration of $804. This resulted in a decrease in the
Company’s goodwill of $29 and an increase in the non-controlling interest in this subsidiary of $740. ATS recorded a
dilution gain on the issuance of shares in this subsidiary of $35.
(iv)

During the year ended March 31, 2007, ATS reorganized certain assets relating to the Photowatt Technologies segment,
resulting in an increase in the Company’s goodwill in this segment of $787 and an increase in the non-controlling interest of
the same amount.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:
(i) Categories of financial assets and liabilities:
The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments are classified into the following categories:
As at March 31

2008

Held for trading
Cash and short-term investments

$ 56,785

Bank indebtedness
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges(1) — loss

28,754
(58)

Derivatives designated as held for trading(1) — loss

(1,394)

Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable

$126,052

Available for sale
Portfolio investments

$

4,927

Other liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities(1)
Other long-term liabilities

$149,169
235

(1) Derivative financial instruments in a gain position are included in deposits and prepaid assets. Derivative financial
instruments in a loss position are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
The estimated fair values of cash and short-term investments, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, and other long-term liabilities approximate their respective carrying values due to the short period to
maturity and interest rates approximating current market rates. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value
determined by reference to quoted bid or asking prices, as appropriate, in active markets at period end dates. Portfolio
investments in equities are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices, except where a quoted market price in an active
market does not exist, in which case they are measured at cost.
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company sold all of its 1,864,398 shares in Canadian Solar Inc., a publicly traded
company on Nasdaq, for gross proceeds of $32,032 and net proceeds of $31,932. A gain of $31,779 has been recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations related to this disposition.
(ii) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Foreign exchange contracts are transacted with financial institutions to hedge foreign currency denominated obligations
related to sales of products. The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies
under foreign exchange contracts, all of which have a maturity date of less than one year, as at March 31, 2008:

Currency sold

Currency bought

Notional
amount sold

Weighted
average rate

US dollars
Euros

Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars

90,620
10,136

1.0102
1.5661

US dollars

Singapore dollars

5,600

1.4184

Euros
Swiss Francs

Swiss Francs
Canadian dollars

2,700
3,501

1.5998
1.0044

Great British Pounds

Canadian dollars

1,400

2.0024

Canadian dollars
US dollars

US dollars
Great British Pound

845
397

0.9814
0.5117

Canadian dollars

Great British Pound

93

0.4895

Management estimates that a loss of $1,452 would be realized if the contracts were terminated on March 31, 2008. Certain of
these forward contracts are designated as cash flow hedges and have unrealized losses of $58, of which a loss of $95 is recognized
in AOCI and a gain of $37, representing the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges, has been included in net income. The net loss
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d):
included in AOCI is not expected to affect net income as the gains will be reclassified to net income within the next twelve
months and will offset losses recorded on the underlying hedged items. An unrealized loss of $1,394 on forward contracts not
designated as hedges is included in net income which offsets gains recorded on the foreign denominated items, namely accounts
payable and accounts receivable.
All hedging relationships are formally documented, including the risk management objective and strategy. On a quarterly basis,
an assessment is made as to whether the designated derivative financial instruments have been and continue to be effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged transactions.
(iii) Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to financial risks that may potentially impact its operating results in either or both of its operating
segments; including market risks (foreign exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to
mitigate exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not enter into derivative financial agreements
for speculative purposes.
Currency risk
The Company transacts business in multiple currencies, the most significant of which are the Canadian dollar, the U.S. dollar, the
Euro and the Singapore dollar. As a result, the Company has foreign currency exposure with respect to items denominated in
foreign currencies. The types of foreign exchange risk can be categorized as follows:
Translation exposure
All of the Company’s foreign operations are considered self-sustaining. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are translated into
Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. Unrealized translation gains and losses are
deferred and included in accumulated other comprehensive income. The cumulative currency translation adjustments are
recognized in income when there has been a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.
Foreign currency based earnings are translated into Canadian dollars each period. As a result, fluctuations in the value of the
Canadian dollar relative to these other currencies will impact reported net income. Foreign currency risks arising from the
translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into the Company’s functional currency are generally not hedged;
however, the Company may decide to hedge this risk under certain circumstances. The Company has assessed the net foreign
currency exposure of operations relative to their own functional currency. A fluctuation of +/- 5%, provided as an indicative
range in a volatile currency environment, would, everything else being equal, have an effect on income from continuing
operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest for the year ended March 31, 2008 of approximately +/- $378.
Transaction exposure
The Company, through its subsidiaries, generates significant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which
exceed the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage this net foreign
currency exposure in subsidiaries which do not have the U.S. dollar as the functional currency, the Company enters into forward
foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on
existing customer contracts on hand or anticipated, current conditions in the Company’s markets, and the Company’s past
experience. As such, there is not a material transaction exposure.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and short-term
investments, accounts receivable and derivative financial instruments. The carrying values of these assets represent
management’s assessment of the associated maximum exposure to such credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s
accounts receivable are due from customers in a variety of industries and as such, are subject to normal credit risks from
their respective industries. The Company regularly monitors customers for changes in credit risk. The Company does not believe
that any single industry or geographic region represents significant credit risk. Credit risk concentration with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational customers. As at March 31, 2008,
$15,830 or 13% of accounts receivable were more than 90 days past invoice date. The Company has provided for $9,131 against
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d):
specific receivables identified as being uncollectible. The movement in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the
year ended March 31, 2008 was as follows:
2008
As at March 31
Balance at April 1

$4,593

Provisions and revisions

4,538

Balance at March 31

$9,131

The Company minimizes credit risk associated with derivative financial instruments by only entering into derivative transactions
with highly rated, multinational financial institutions, in order to reduce the risk of counterparty default.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
As at March 31, 2008, the Company was holding cash and short-term investments of $56,785 and had unutilized lines of credit of
$78,509. Subsequent to year end, the Company obtained a new credit facility (“Credit Agreement”), as described in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Company expects that continued cash flows from operations in 2009, redundant
assets to be monetized, together with cash and short-term investments on hand and new credit facilities, will be more than
sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets. All of the Company’s financial liabilities
have contractual maturities of less than one year, with the exception of the long-term liability, which has contractual payments
of $235 due in fiscal 2010.
Interest rate risk
In relation to its debt financing, the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may impact on the Company’s
borrowing costs. Floating rate debt exposes the Company to fluctuations in short-term interest rates. As at March 31, 2008,
$28,754 or 100% of the Company’s total debt is subject to movements in floating interest rates. A +/- 1% change in interest rates,
which is indicative of the change in the prime lending rate over the preceding twelve month period, would, all things being
equal, have an insignificant impact on income from continuing operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest for
the period.
Other market price risk
Equity price risk arises from available for sale equity securities. Material investments are managed on an individual basis and all
buy and sell decisions are approved by the Board of Directors. Included with available for sale assets is an investment in a private
company and its related subsidiaries for which there is not a quoted share price within an active market. Accordingly, the
investment is not adjusted for changes in fair value and is recorded at its initial cost of $1,958.
The Company utilizes long-term fixed price contracts to secure future quantities of various commodities. The Company does not
enter into such commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sales requirements; such contracts
are not net settled.
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5. CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AND INVENTORIES:
As at March 31

2008

Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred on contracts in progress

$

Estimated earnings
Progress billings
$
Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress

$

323,239

2007

$

89,432

379,756
(326,379)

554,796
(504,227)

53,377

$

79,478

$

(26,101)

Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress
$
As at March 31

53,377

$

61,905

Work in process

15,296

Finished goods

16,550
93,751

$

50,569
73,755
(23,186)

$

2008

Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials

465,364

56,517

50,569
2007

$

35,660
11,894

$

27,250
74,804

6. DEPOSITS AND PREPAID ASSETS:
As at March 31

2008
$

Prepaid assets

4,611

2007
$

9,530
1,653

Silicon and other deposits
Forward contracts and other
$

15,794

3,752
6,468
641

$

10,861

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
2008
As at March 31

Cost

Land and land improvements
Buildings

$

Leashold improvements
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture
$

28,477
97,011

Accumulated
amortization
$

—
(28,407)

Net book
value
$

28,477
68,604

6,165

(3,232)

2,933

142,828

(66,630)

76,198

46,011
320,492

$

(36,169)
(134,438)

$

9,842
186,054
2007

As at March 31

Cost

Land and land improvements
Buildings

$

Leashold improvements
Production equipment
Other equipment and furniture
$
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28,140
100,360

Accumulated
amortization
$

—
(25,098)

Net book
value
$

28,140
75,262

8,344

(3,276)

5,068

192,359

(89,093)

103,266

43,760
372,963

$

(33,778)
(151,245)

$

9,982
221,718

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company recorded $127 of amortization from continuing operations (2007 — $392)
on intangible assets. As of March 31, 2008, the total accumulated amortization on intangible assets included in continuing
operations was $3,435 (2007 — $4,301).

9. DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT COSTS:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company deferred development costs of $53 (2007 — nil). Amortization of deferred
development costs included in continuing operations was $531 (2007 — $1,580).

10. OTHER ASSETS:
As at March 31

2008

Deferred pre-production costs

$

—

$

33,888
33,888

Silicon deposits and other

2007
$

586

$

5,321
5,907

11. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the agreement governing the Company’s primary operating credit facility (the “Credit
Agreement”) was amended resulting in the authorized operating credit facility being reduced from $130,000 to $80,000. The
amended operating credit facility, which was secured by a general security agreement, was extended until June 2008. The
amended operating credit facility was subject to a current ratio test, and a debt leverage test. Under the terms of the Credit
Agreement, the Company was restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The Credit Agreement
also restricted the disposition of certain assets with an agreement to reduce available credit by an amount equal to a portion of
the net proceeds received by the Company from certain material asset sales, if any. The Company was in compliance with these
covenants and restrictions as at March 31, 2008.
“Other facility” is comprised of outstanding amounts under short term unsecured credit facilities available in Euro totalling
$25,674 (16,000 Euro). The facilities are provided to a subsidiary by local banks and are currently scheduled to reduce by 8,000
Euro on June 30, 2008 with the remaining facilities expiring in May 2009. The Other facilities bear interest at Euribor and Eonia
rates plus up to 0.85% per annum.
Interest paid in cash during the year totaled $6,015 (2007 — $3,135).
(i) Bank indebtedness
As at March 31

2008

Primary credit facility
Other facility

2007

$

8,478
20,276

$

6,758
30,446

$

28,754

$

37,204

(ii) Long-term Debt
As at March 31

2008
$

Primary credit facility
Unsecured non-interest bearing loan GBP due July 29, 2007

—
—

2007
$

—
Less: current portion
$

—
—

39,025
447
39,472

$

(447)
39,025

Effective June 2008, the Company established a new long-term primary credit facility (“New Credit Agreement”) with total credit
facilities of up to $85,000, comprised of an operating credit facility of $40,000 which, after the Company has met certain
conditions, shall increase by $5,000 monthly increments up to $65,000, and a letter of credit facility of up to $20,000 for certain
purposes. The operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds advanced
under the facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The New Credit Agreement, which is secured by
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11. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT (cont’d):
security on the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares and
guarantees from certain of the Company’s non-North American legal entities, is repayable in full on October 31, 2009.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letter of credit for certain purposes
and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The interest rates applicable
to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain financial ratios. For prime rate advances and base rate advances,
the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in Canada, respectively, plus 1.25% to 2.25%.
For bankers’ acceptances and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively,
plus 2.25% to 3.25%.
Under the New Credit Agreement, the Company shall pay a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at a rate of 0.5% per annum.
The New Credit Agreement is subject to a debt leverage test, a current ratio test, and a cumulative EBITDA test. Under the terms
of the New Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The
New Credit Agreement also restricts the payment of dividends and the disposition of certain assets.

12. SHARE CAPITAL:
As at March 31

2008

2007

Common shares:
Authorized
Unlimited shares
Issued:
$

77,277,155 shares (2007 —59,262,005 shares)

432,825

$

327,560

13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:
As at March 31

2008

Accumulated currency translation adjustment

$

Accumulated unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial assets (net of income taxes of
$53)

(6,779)

2007
$

(9,422)

200

—

(96)

—

Accumulated unrealized net loss on derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow
hedges
$

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(6,675)

$

(9,422)

During the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company reduced its net investment in self sustaining foreign subsidiaries by
approximately $42,529. As a result, $3,130 of foreign exchange losses previously deferred in the cumulative translation
adjustment account were realized in the loss from operations during the year in selling, general and administrative expenses.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS:
Employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the terms of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying employees of the
Company may set aside funds through payroll deductions for an amount up to a maximum of 10% of their salary. Subject to the
member not making withdrawals from the plan, the Company makes contributions to the plan equal to 20% of a member’s
contribution to the plan during the year, up to a maximum of 1% of the member’s salary or $2,000. Shares for the plan may be
issued from treasury or purchased in the market as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. During the years ended
March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007, no shares were issued from treasury related to the plan.
Deferred Stock Unit Plan: The Company offers a Deferred Stock Unit Plan (“DSU Plan”) for members of the Board of Directors.
Under the DSU Plan each non-employee director may elect to receive his or her annual compensation in the form of notional
common shares of the Company called deferred stock units (“DSUs”). The issue and redemption prices of each DSU are based on
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14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (cont’d):
an average trading price of the Company’s common shares for the five trading days prior to issuance or redemption. Under the
terms of the DSU Plan, directors are not entitled to convert DSUs into cash until retirement from the Board. The value of each
DSU, when converted to cash, will be equal to the market value of a common share of the Company at the time the conversion
takes place. At March 31, 2008, the value of the outstanding liability related to the DSUs was $218 (2007 — $697). The DSU
liability is revalued quarterly based on the change in the company’s stock price. The change in the value of the DSU liability is
included in operating results in the period of the change.
Stock Option Plan: The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers and directors. Under the
Corporation’s 1995 Stock Option plan (the “1995 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 5,991,839 common
shares for issuance under the 1995 Plan, with the maximum reserved for issuance to any one person at 5% of the common shares
outstanding at the time of the grant. Time vested stock options vest over four or five year periods. Performance-based stock
options vest based on the Company’s stock trading at or above a threshold for a specified number of minimum trading days in a
fiscal quarter. For time vested stock options, the exercise price is the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock
Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant. For performance-based stock options the exercise price is either the
price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant or the
price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing. Options granted under the plan may be
exercised during periods not exceeding seven or ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination upon the option
holder ceasing to be a director, officer or employee of the Company. Options issued under the plan are non-transferable. Any
option granted which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise is returned to the pool and becomes available
for future stock option grants. In the event that the option would otherwise expire during a restricted trading period, the expiry
date of the option is extended to the 10th business day following the date of expiry of such period. In addition, the plan restricts
the grant of Options to insiders that may be under the 1995 Plan.
During the year ended March 31, 2007, the shareholders approved the adoption of the Company’s 2006 Stock Option Plan (the
“2006 Plan”). Under the 2006 Plan, the shareholders have approved a maximum of 2,159,000 common shares for issuance. The
terms of the 2006 Plan will be identical to those of the amended 1995 Stock Option Plan, except that the maximum number of
Common Shares to be issued pursuant to the issue of options under the 2006 Plan is 2,159,000 shares.
As a result of the rights offering completed during the year ended March 31, 2008, the exercise price of the options outstanding
at the date of the closing of the rights offering was reduced by a factor of 0.9263 and the number of options were increased by
163,196 for time vesting options and 41,364 for performance-based options.
As at March 31, 2008 there are a total of 2,447,530 (2007 — 2,703,942) common shares remaining for future option grants under
both plans.

Years ended March 31

2008
Number of
stock options

Stock options outstanding, beginning of year
Rights offering exercise price adjustment
Adjusted stock options outstanding
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/Cancelled
Anti-dilution adjustment
Stock options outstanding, end of year

Weighted average
exercise price

2,647,487

$

—

15.34
(1.13)

2,647,487
5,508,950

14.21
7.18

2007
Number of
stock options
2,505,552

Weighted average
exercise price
$

16.05

—

—

2,505,552
566,450

16.05
11.59

(325,000)

5.95

(69,318)

9.89

(1,473,348)
204,560

13.97
14.24

(355,197)
—

15.45
—

6,562,649

$

8.83

2,647,487

$

15.34

1,043,704

$

14.99

1,405,355

$

17.87

928,479

$

6.54

118,225

$

13.25

Stock options exercisable, end of year, time
vested options
Stock options exercisable, end of year,
performance options
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14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (cont’d):
As at March 31, 2008

Stock options outstanding
Number
outstanding

$4.40 to 6.40

1,598,950

5.84 years

5.12

296,666

$6.41 to 8.50

2,701,802

5.24 years

7.41

747,709

7.26

$8.51 to 10.94
$10.95 to 23.72

1,300,811
961,086

5.08 years
3.73 years

10.54
16.54

295,813
631,995

10.55
18.63

$4.40 to 23.72

6,562,649

5.13 years

8.83

1,972,183

Range of
Exercise prices

Weighted average
exercise
price

Stock options exercisable

Weighted average
remaining
contractual life

$

$

Number
exercisable

Weighted average
exercise price
$

$

4.68

11.01

The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a stock
price performance threshold for a specified minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the performance-based
options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock
options in the period in which they vest.
As at March 31, 2008, the following performance-based stock options were un-vested:

Number of
options
outstanding

Grant date
value per
option

Weighted
average
remaining
vesting
period

$8.41
$8.50

333,333
889,333

$2.19
1.41

3.0 years
4.6 years

$ 57
102

$ 673
1,151

$9.08

218,666

2.77

2.5 years

55

551

$10.41
$10.50

333,334
889,333

2.19
1.41

4.4 years
5.5 years

40
87

690
1,166

$11.08

218,667

2.77

3.8 years

38

568

$12.41
$13.08

333,333
218,667

2.19
2.77

5.4 years
4.8 years

33
30

697
575

$13.72

43,825

3.68

0.3 years

72

18

$15.09
$16.60

43,825
43,825

3.68
3.68

1.3 years
2.0 years

50
40

62
81

$19.87

43,200

4.42

0.8 years

51

38

Stock price
performance
threshold

Current
year
expense

Remaining
expense to
recognize

In the calculation of stock-based compensation expense, the fair values of the Company’s time vested stock option grants during
the years ended March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the fair

54
ATS Annual Report 2008

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (cont’d):
value of the Company’s performance-based stock option grants were estimated using a binomial option pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions and data:
As at March 31

2008

2007

Weighted average of risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

3.84%
0%

4.04%
0%

40%

Expected volatility in the market price of shares

Time vested
Performance based
Weighted average exercise per option

31%

4.6 years

5.0 years

1,184,950

191,150

Weighted average of expected life
Number of stock options granted:

4,324,000
$
7.18

$

375,300
11.59

$
$

$
$

3.66
3.48

Weighted average grant date value per option:
Time vested
Performance based

2.41
1.80

The following pro forma disclosures present the compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan had compensation cost
been determined and recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and the loss per share based on the fair value of
options awarded for the year ended March 31, 2003:

Year ended March 31, 2008

Net loss

As reported
Pro forma

$
$

Year ended March 31, 2007

23,423
23,423

Net loss

Basic and diluted
loss per share
$
$

(0.33)
(0.33)

Basic and diluted
loss per share

As reported

$

85,015

$

(1.42)

Pro forma

$

85,565

$

(1.43)

Weighted average common shares used in the above computation of pro forma basic and diluted loss per share were 70,494,006
and 70,528,902 respectively (2007 — 59,732,948 basic and diluted). The change in contributed surplus consists of amounts
charged to stock-based compensation expense excluding DSU charges.
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15. INCOME TAXES:
(i) Reconciliation of income taxes: Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be obtained by applying the
combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate to earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest.
These differences result from the following items:
Years ended March 31

2008

Income (Loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and non-controlling interest
Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate

2007

$

8,283
35.53%

$

(40,367)
36.10%

$

2,943

$

(14,572)

Income tax expense (recovery) based on combined Canadian basic federal and provincial
income tax rate
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Valuation allowance of future tax assets

(4,440)

35,984

Investment tax credits
Non-deductible expenses (non-taxable income)

—
(3,677)

8,106
4,811

1,245

Manufacturing and processing allowance and all other items
$

1,872

(3,929)

$

(1,260)

$

36,201

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes:
$

Current

(2,669)

Future
$

(3,929)

15,904
20,297

$

36,201

Income taxes paid in cash during the year totalled $4,690 (2007 — $11,298).
(ii) Components of future income tax assets and liabilities: Future income taxes are provided for the differences between
accounting and tax bases of asset and liabilities. Future income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:
As at March 31

2008

2007

Future income tax assets:
$

Loss carryforwards
Property, plant and equipment

32,262
9,687

$

42,709
8,859

Deductible pool of scientific research and development
18,439
2,189

expenditures not yet deducted for tax
Ontario harmonization credit
Other
Less valuation allowance
Future income tax assets, net

10,423
—

6,443

4,589

69,020
64,118

66,580
53,185

$

4,902

$

13,395

$

12,267
4,257

$

23,890
3,796

Future income tax liabilities:
Accounting income not currently taxable
Investment tax credits and other
Future income tax liabilities

16,524
$

Net future tax liability
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(11,622)

27,686
$

(14,291)

15. INCOME TAXES (cont’d):
Net future tax (liabilities) assets are classified for balance sheet purposes as follows:
As at March 31

2008

Current assets

$

1,604

Long-term assets

2,117

Current liabilities

(15,343)

Long-term liabilities

2007
$

(14,395)

—
$

(11,622)

—
179
(75)

$

(14,291)

The Company has a transitional tax credit of $2,189 arising from the Canadian Federal/Ontario Corportate Tax Harmonization.
This credit is available to reduce future Ontario income tax over the next five years.
(iii) Loss carryforwards: As at March 31, 2008, the Company has the following net operating loss carryforwards which are
scheduled to expire in the following years:
Year of Expiry

Non-Canadian

Losses with no expiry

$

23,590

2008 — 2026

Canadian
$

—

15,355

23,174

2027

1,828

50,793

2028

—

418

$

40,773

$

74,385

In addition, the Company has USA Federal and State capital loss carryforwards of US$2,135 (2007 — US$2,135) that do not expire.
(iv) Investment tax credits: As at March 31, 2008, the Company has the following ITCs which have been recognized for
accounting purposes and are scheduled to expire in the following years:
Gross ITC
Balance

Year of Expiry
2014

$

3,456

Valuation
Allowance
$

—

Net ITC
Balance
$

7,344

2026
2027

9,102
7,631

(6,190)
(7,631)

2,912
—

2028

5,194

(5,194)

—

$
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32,727

—

3,456

2015

$

(19,015)

7,344

$

13,712

16. COMMITMENTS:
The minimum operating lease payments related primarily to facilities and equipment, purchase obligations and other
obligations in each of the next five years are as follows:

Fiscal Year

Operating
Leases

Purchase
Obligations

2009

$

$

5,367

Other
Obligations

99,419

$

113

2010 — 2011

7,988

124,357

113

2012 — 2013
Thereafter

2,102
897

122,967
288,785

—
—

$

16,354

$

635,528

$

226

In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to the customer for obligations relating to contract completion and
timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for advances
received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. At March 31, 2008, the total value of outstanding bank
guarantees to customers available under bank guarantee facilities was approximately $18,875 (2007 — $5,559).

17. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE:
During the year ended March 31, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with Technology Partnerships Canada (“TPC”)
which provides for funding of up to $29,500 as a contribution towards the Company’s development of a silicon sphere solar
technology, Spheral SolarTM.
As consideration for the TPC funding, the Company is required to pay royalties of 1.8% on future Spheral SolarTM Power revenues.
These royalties commence in the first year that future annual revenues resulting from the sale, licensing or other transfer of
Spheral SolarTM Power products and related services exceed $20,000 and continue for a total of 10 years. If the cumulative
royalties exceed $84,493 during this 10 year period, the royalty rate declines to 0.35% for the remaining term. If at the end of
10 years the cumulative royalties have not reached $84,493, the royalty payment term is extended for the lesser of a further five
years or once cumulative royalties of $84,493 have been reached. The Company has not recorded any liability amounts with
respect to the TPC funding since the conditions for the payment of royalties have not yet been met. The Company halted
development on this project in early fiscal 2008.

18. ASSET IMPAIRMENT AND OTHER CHARGES
The Company regularly reviews the net recoverable amount of its assets. In 2007, the impairment related to various assets from
the Photowatt Technologies segment:
As at March 31

2008

Inventory

$

—

2007
$

3,980

Investment tax credits
Property, plant & equipment

—
—

5,332
4,179

Other

—

3,500

$

—

$

16,991

The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and has determined
there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2008 (2007 —nil).

19. RIGHTS OFFERING:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company completed a rights offering, raising gross proceeds of $110,210 (net
proceeds of $102,522). The rights offering provided existing common shareholders with rights to subscribe for additional
common shares in ATS. Each shareholder of record of the Company on July 19, 2007 received one right for each common share
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19. RIGHTS OFFERING (cont’d):
held. For every 3.35 rights held, the holder was entitled to purchase one common share at the subscription price of $6.23 until
August 14, 2007. ATS received subscriptions of 16,011,247 common shares. Under the Additional Subscription Privilege,
1,678,903 shares were purchased.

20. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Weighted average number of shares used in the computation of earnings (loss) per share is as follows:
Years ended March 31

2008

2007

Basic

70,494,006

59,732,948

Diluted

70,528,902

59,732,948

During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company executed a rights offering as described in note 19. The exercise price of the
rights offering was less than the fair market value of the common shares at issuance of the rights. Accordingly, it contained a
bonus element that is similar to a stock dividend. In accordance with the recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3500,
Earnings Per Share, the weighted average common shares for the year ended March 31, 2008 have been retroactively increased
by 489,000 to reflect the bonus element.
In the year ended March 31, 2008, the impact of discontinued operations on the net earnings (loss) per share resulted in a
reduction to both basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share of $0.50 (2007 — $0.14). All stock options are excluded from the
weighted average common shares in the calculation of diluted EPS in both 2008 and 2007 as they are anti-dilutive.

21. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE:
The Company evaluates performance based on two reportable segments: Automation Systems and Photowatt Technologies. The
Automation Systems segment produces custom-engineered turn-key automated manufacturing and test systems. The
Photowatt Technologies segment is a high-volume manufacturer of photovoltaic products.
The Company accounts for inter-segment revenue at current market rates, negotiated between the segments.
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21. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE (cont’d):
2008
Automation
Systems
Revenue

$

Inter-segment revenue

464,978

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

$

198,617

$

663,595

(326)

(326)

Total Company revenue

$

464,652

$

198,617

$

663,269

Earnings (loss) from operations

$

903

$

3,159

$

4,062

Inter-segment operating earnings

488

Other expenses
Gain on sale of portfolio investments

(27,416)
31,779

Total Company income from operations
Assets

$

382,427

$

276,047

$

8,913

$

658,474

$

18,161
678,015

Corporate assets

1,380

Other assets
Total Company goodwill

$

29,830

$

5,512

$

35,342

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

$

3,100

$

17,192

$

20,292

$

21,844

$

21,819

$

22,019

Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

1,552

Amortization from continuing operations

$

8,249

$

13,570

Corporate and inter-segment amortization

200

Total Company amortization from continuing operations

2007
Automation
Systems
Revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Total Company revenue

$

Earnings (loss) from operations
Inter-segment operating earnings
Other expenses
Total Company loss from operations

$

Assets
Corporate assets
Other assets

$

$

465,964
(2,019)
463,945
6,357

Photowatt
Technologies

Consolidated

$

150,593

$

$

150,593

$

$

(30,477)

$

$
350,369

$

185,213

$

616,557
(2,019)
614,538
(24,120)
(426)
(14,787)
(39,333)

$

535,582
5,473
60,010
601,065

Total Company goodwill

$

31,832

$

3,825

$

35,657

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Corporate acquisitions, inter-segment transfers and other

$

4,464

$

36,835

$

41,299
3,681
44,980

$
Amortization from continuing operations
Corporate and inter-segment amortization
Total Company amortization from continuing operations

$

11,537

$

10,800

$
$
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22,337
294
22,631

21. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE (cont’d):

Revenue
Canada
United States
Europe
Asia — Pacific and other
Total Company

$

$

48,747
219,288
286,076
109,158
663,269

$

$

2008

2007

Total longlived assets

Total longlived assets

46,517
37,890
128,094
9,120
221,621

Revenue
$

$

35,176
250,998
227,706
100,658
614,538

$

82,486
47,114
118,294
9,833
257,727

$

Geographic segmentation of revenue is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Long-lived assets represent
property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets that are attributable to individual geographic segments, based
on location of the respective operations.
During the year ended March 31, 2008 and the year ended March 31, 2007, no segment had revenue from one customer which
amounted to 10% or more of total consolidated revenue.

22. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
During the year ended March 31, 2008, Photowatt International S.A.S., a subsidiary of the Company, EDEV EnR Reparties and
CEA Valorisation entered into an agreement to establish a joint venture. The joint venture became effective in October 2007 with
contributions of cash by the venturers. This is a jointly-controlled enterprise and accordingly, the Company proportionately
consolidates its 40% share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the consolidated financial statements.
The following is a summary of the Company’s proportionate share of the joint venture:
2008

As at March 31
Balance Sheet
Current assets

$

Property and equipment
Current liabilities

587
1
(328)

Net assets

$

Year ended March 31

260
2008

Statement of Operations
Operating expenses and net loss

$

(648)

23. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s capital management framework is designed to ensure the Company has adequate liquidity, financial resources
and borrowing capacity to allow financial flexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. The Company defines
capital as the aggregate of shareholder’s equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income), bank indebtedness and
long-term debt less cash and short-term investments.
The Company monitors capital using the ratio of total debt to equity. Total debt includes bank indebtedness and long-term debt
as shown on the balance sheet. Equity includes all components of shareholders’ equity, less accumulated other comprehensive
income. This is unchanged from the previous period.
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23. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
The capital management criteria can be illustrated as follows:
As at March 31

2008

Shareholders’ equity excluding AOCI
Long-term debt

$

Bank indebtedness
Cash and short-term investments
Capital under management

$

Debt to equity ratio

455,865
—

2007
$

370,801
39,472

28,754

37,204

(56,785)

(25,568)

427,834
0.1:1

$

421,909
0.2:1

The Company is subject to externally imposed minimum capital requirements relating to bank credit facilities. The Company has
exceeded these minimum requirements during the year.

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company paid $484 to reimburse Goodwood Inc. and Mason Capital Management,
LLC, for proxy solicitation expenses and legal fees, incurred in connection with the proxy contest to reconstitute the ATS Board of
Directors.
The CEO of Photowatt International S.A.S., is also the President of PV Alliance, in which the Company has a 40% investment
interest. During the year ended March 31, 2008, Photowatt invested $867 (600 Euro) in the PV Alliance.

62
ATS Annual Report 2008

Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.
250 Royal Oak Road
Cambridge, Ontario, Canada N3H 4R6
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 653-6533

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
100 University Avenue, 9th Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1
Website: www.computershare.com
Shareholders email communications:
service@computershare.com
Tel: 1-800-564-6253
Fax: 1-866-249-7775

Investor Relations Contact
Lalitha Mony
Investor Relations Coordinator
Tel: (519) 653-6500
Fax: (519) 650-6520
Email: investor@atsautomation.com

Auditors
KPMG LLP
Principal Bank
The Bank of Nova Scotia

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange “ATA”

Web Site
www.atsautomation.com

63
ATS Annual Report 2008

Board of Directors

NEIL D. ARNOLD chairman of the board (1, 2 & 3)

GORDON PRESHER Director (2 & 3)

Mr. Arnold has over 35 years of experience in public company finance and
general management. Most recently, he served as Executive chairman of the
board of Directors of wHX corp., a public holding company for primary
industrial businesses. He served as group Finance Director of LucasVarity, PLc, a
public company providing components and systems to the global aerospace
and automotive industries with revenues in excess of $7 billion. Prior to that,
Mr. Arnold was chief Financial Officer of Varity corporation (previously MasseyFerguson Ltd.). He has served as a director of LucasVarity, and wHX corp. Mr.
Arnold earned a b.A. in Engineering science from Pembroke college, Oxford
University and is a Fellow of the chartered institute of Management
Accountants (UK).

Mr. Presher is a uniquely qualified entrepreneur, possessing expertise in both the
automation technology and solar industries. He is the co-founder, chairman and
chief Executive Officer of solar sentry corp., a seed-stage developer of
innovative monitoring equipment for the solar energy industry. Prior to solar
sentry, Mr. Presher was chairman and chief Executive Officer of Ormec systems
corp., a factory automation firm specializing in precision motion control. He
began his career as a controls engineer at Eastman Kodak co. Mr. Presher holds a
bachelor of science in Physics and Math from Houghton college, and a bachelor
of science in Electrical Engineering from University of Rochester.
PETER PUCCETTI Director (1)

Mr. Puccetti has 20 years of special situations investment experience, including
many restructuring and turnaround situations. He is the founder, chairman and
chief investment Officer of goodwood inc. The long/short goodwood Fund
began in 1996 with a focus on special situations value investing. The goodwood
Fund is one of canada’s longest running long/short funds and is differentiated by
its solid long-term returns, bottom-up stock picking, willingness to engage in
constructive activist investing and absence of derivatives and leverage. Prior to
the goodwood Fund, Mr. Puccetti co-founded a successful institutional
brokerage boutique, Puccetti Farrell capital Partners. Previously, Mr. Puccetti was
an analyst, investment banker, partner and member of the steering committee
of sprott securities Limited (now cormark securities inc.). Mr. Puccetti earned a
bachelor of Arts in Economics from Dalhousie University and was awarded the
chartered Financial Analyst designation in 1991.

JOHN K. BELL Director

Mr. bell is the chairman of The Onbelay group of companies, a cambridge-based
Private Equity corporation with investments in Automotive, Telematics and
Technology. Prior to that he was cEO and owner of Polymer Technologies inc.
Previously, he was the founder of shred-Tech Limited which he started in 1977
and sold in 1995. He currently sits on the board of Newport Partners income
Fund (TsX) (Audit committee chair) and bsM wireless inc. (TsX-V) (chairman).
He is currently chairman of cambridge Memorial Hospital. Mr. bell is a Fellow of
the institute of chartered Accountants of Ontario, a graduate of the University of
western Ontario school of business Administration (ivey).
J. CAMERON MACDONALD Director (2 & 3)

Mr. MacDonald is the President and chief Executive Officer of goodwood. He
joined goodwood in september 2000. Prior to joining goodwood, Mr.
MacDonald was a Director, member of the Research and Executive committee
and shareholder of connor clark Private Trust (1990-1999) (“connor clark”). in
April 1999, The Royal bank of canada purchased 100% of connor clark. From
1983 through 1990, Mr. MacDonald held various positions at cibc wood gundy
in the credit and operations departments and thereafter as an account executive
(Vice President). Mr. MacDonald holds a bachelor of Arts in Economics from
wilfrid Laurier University and is a chartered Financial Analyst.

NEALE X. TRANGUCCI Director (1)

Mr. Trangucci has been an officer of Mason capital Management, LLc since 2005.
He has over 25 years of experience investing in and managing companies in
various stages of financial distress. Prior to joining Mason, he was chief
Executive Officer of wHX corp. Prior to wHX, Mr. Trangucci worked for
Neubergerberman, where he invested partners’capital in public and private
distressed securities. Prior to that, he spent eight years in workouts and
bankruptcies with continental illinois bank and salomon brothers. He has been
a director of wHX, wheeling-Pittsburgh steel corp. and wheeling-Nisshin, inc.
Mr. Trangucci holds a bachelor of science from bucknell University and a Masters
in international Affairs and Finance and banking from columbia University.

MICHAEL E. MARTINO Director (2 & 3)

Mr. Martino is a founder and a principal of Mason capital Management, LLc. Mr.
Martino began his investment career at Oppenheimer & company where he
was responsible for risk arbitrage research; he ended his tenure at
Oppenheimer as Executive Director, Risk Arbitrage. He began his business
career at gE capital corporation where he held positions in information systems
and business analysis. He was formerly a director of spar Aerospace Limited, a
publicly-traded aerospace company. Mr. Martino graduated from Fairfield
University with a degree in Political science and earned a Masters in business
Administration in Finance and international business from New York
University’s stern school of business.

1 Member of the Audit and Finance committee
2 Member of the Human Resources committee
3 Member of the corporate governance committee
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Vice President &
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Vice President &
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Vice President &
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chief Executive Officer
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